


With the crisis that erupted in January of this
year began the first of the long parentheses in

the amazing unfolding of the Garabandal mystery.

The course of the apparitions abruptly stops,
without the girls knowing the reason, without the
Virgin giving them the least explanation, without even
a word of farewell.  As Conchita wrote on February
18th to María Herrero de Gallardo:

««IItt hhaass bbeeeenn ssoommee ttiimmee ssiinnccee wwee hhaavvee hhaadd aann
aappppaarriittiioonn .. .. ..  II ddoonn''tt kknnooww wwhheenn SShhee wwiillll
rreettuurrnn,, bbeeccaauussee SShhee ddiiddnn''tt ssaayy ggooooddbbyyee;; nnoorr ddiidd
SShhee ssaayy aannyytthhiinngg ttoo uuss..»»

All that had filled the village during months and
months — over a year and a half — was thus
strangely shut off, with only something very indef-
inite hanging in the air: the promise and the hope of a
great final Miracle.

Certainly no one would have imagined that the
affairs of Garabandal could last indefinitely.  But to
end like this?  The long impressive display of phen-
omena did not match with such a poor conclusion.
And problems were augmenting since, if it had been
difficult to understand what was happening at the
time it was going on, it was more difficult to un-
derstand what had happened when it was over.

Long WWeeks oof DDismay
The crisis of January 1963 closed what might be

called the first phase of Garabandal, an astounding
and unforgettable phase, in which the Virgin ap-
peared to want to live in the secluded village, as-
sociating day and night with the simple children, who
were her children: the visionaries, the people who
lived there, the innumerable pilgrims.

Now was to come an intermission — and a long
one — that would last throughout 1963 and 1964.
The girls and their supporters had to live almost
exclusively from memories and hopes: memories of
so many things that had been, hopes of many others
that could still be.

And at the time, for many weeks, what reigned
was dismay.  

It was mentioned in the preceding chapter; but

there are additional points to add.

On February 13th Conchita wrote to Fr. de la
Riva, the pastor of Barro:

««II hhaavvee jjuusstt rreecceeiivveedd yyoouurr lleetttteerr wwhhiicchh II aamm
nnooww aannsswweerriinngg..  IItt''ss ttrruuee tthhaatt tthhee aattmmoosspphheerree
ttooddaayy iinn tthhee vviillllaaggee iiss vveerryy ddiiffffeerreenntt ffrroomm wwhhaatt iitt
wwaass wwhheenn yyoouu wweerree hheerree..  HHaarrddllyy aannyyoonnee bbeelliieevveess..
MMyy mmootthheerr ddooeessnn''tt;; nneeiitthheerr ddooeess mmyy aauunntt MMaaxxii-
mmiinnaa..  NNoorr ddooeess tthhee wwhhoollee vviillllaaggee .. .. ..  TToo mmee tthhaatt
ddooeessnn''tt mmaatttteerr,, ssiinnccee II hhaavvee sseeeenn HHeerr..  TThheeyy aarreenn''tt
ggooiinngg ttoo mmaakkee mmee bbeelliieevvee ootthheerrwwiissee..  CCoonncceerrnniinngg
tthhee mmiirraaccllee,, II''mm lliikkee yyoouu —— wwaaiittiinngg ffoorr iitt .. .. ..»»

_______________

What she said about Maximina was correct;(1) but
it seems that deep inside the good woman was
recovering, because during these same dates she
wrote a letter to the sister-in-law of Dr. Ortiz, Eloísa
de la Roza:

««AArroouunndd hheerree,, aass tthhee aappppaarriittiioonnss aarreenn''tt ccoomm-
iinngg bbaacckk,, tthheerree''ss nnootthhiinngg iinn ppaarrttiiccuullaarr..  II hhaadd
ccoommee ttoo ddoouubbtt eevveerryytthhiinngg ccoommpplleetteellyy;; bbuutt ttooddaayy
II aamm oonnccee aaggaaiinn ccoonnvviinncceedd tthhaatt tthheerree wwaass ssoommee-
tthhiinngg hheerree .. .. ..»»

________________

The crisis of disillusion involved the girls also, as
has been mentioned; but they also recovered rapidly,
judging from what Conchita wrote:

NNooww LLoollii aanndd JJaacciinnttaa hhaavvee ccoommee bbaacckk
ttoo rreeaalliittyy,, ttoo bbeelliieevviinngg tthhaatt tthheeyy hhaavvee sseeeenn
tthhee MMoosstt HHoollyy VViirrggiinn..

RReeaallllyy,, hhooww ccoouulldd tthheeyy nnoott bbeelliieevvee??

This brought them back together with a new
frame of mind and a better relationship.  Maximina,
in the letter just mentioned, writes:

1.  The letters to the Pifarré family eloquently reflect her
sorrow and dismay:

«Dear AAsunción: HHere II aam, lloaded ddown wwith ttroubles
and pproblems.» (January 11)

«I rreceived yyour lletter, aand wwriting yyou ccaused mme ttre-
mendous ssorrow, nnot bbeing aable tto ssay wwhat II ffeel .. .. ..  IIt sseems
to mme tthat nnothing hhere hhas bbeen ffrom GGod; II ddon’t kknow wwhat
it iis .. .. ..  II aalready ttold yyou iin aanother lletter wwhat hhappened
with LLoli aand JJacinta, tthat ffor aa llong ttime tthey ddidn’t hhave aan
apparition.  WWell, nnow iit’s ccome aabout tthat CConchita ffor tthe
past eeight ddays iisn’t hhaving aapparitions eeither.  DDo yyou tthink
the VVirgin iis ggoing tto ppart wwithout ssaying aanything?  TThe
apparition hhas ggone, bbut tthey ddon’t kknow iif sshe wwill rreturn.  II
don’t bbelieve aanything.  AAll tthis iis nnothing, aand tthere’s nno oone
here wwho bbelieves .. .. »»                                               (January 28)
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««YYoouu kknnooww,, wwiitthh aallll tthhee ttrroouubbllee tthheerree wwaass
aammoonngg tthhee cchhiillddrreenn,, tthheeyy aarree nnooww vveerryy ffrriieennddllyy..  IItt
ccaann bbee sseeeenn tthhaatt tthheeyy sseeeemm ttoo lliikkee eeaacchh ootthheerr vveerryy
mmuucchh..  AAtt tthhee pprreesseenntt ttiimmee,, tthheeyy aarree rruunnnniinngg ppaasstt
wwhheerree II aamm,, vveerryy ccoonntteenntt aanndd hhaappppyy..»»

__________

How long did the visionaries' recovery last?  On
March 7 when Conchita writes again to Fr. de la Riva,
she begins by apologizing for her delay in answering
him and then says:

««AAss II ddoonn''tt sseeee tthhee VViirrggiinn nnooww,, II ddoonn''tt kknnooww
wwhhaatt ttoo wwrriittee..  SSoommee pprriieessttss hhaavvee bbeeeenn hheerree,, aanndd
oonn FFrriiddaayy aa pprriieesstt iiss ssuuppppoosseedd ttoo ccoommee ffoorr ccoonnffeess-
ssiioonn..(2) II mmiissss yyoouu vveerryy mmuucchh..  DDoo yyoouu ssttiillll bbeelliieevvee
ssoo mmuucchh??  II ddoonn''tt bbeelliieevvee aannyytthhiinngg..  HHooww ddooeess tthhaatt
ssttrriikkee yyoouu?? .. .. ..»»

__________

I have the impression that beginning in January
1963 the doubts and denials in Conchita, Mari Loli
and Jacinta followed a strange line of discontinuity.
They appeared and disappeared in a continuous
succession of phases.  No sooner had the dark and
obscure days come, then other days arrived in which
they believed they saw everything clearly.  What was
evident was that they were not, nor could they be,
the same girls that they had been in Garabandal
during the first stage, in the happy days of the two
previous years.

Mari Cruz continued a path of separation and
rejection very different from the others.  In January,
when the crisis of the other three girls came about,
she hardened in her attitude and began to say openly
that she had never seen anything, that the ap-
paritions were a lie . . .

In her diary's final pages, Conchita writes:

MMaarrii CCrruuzz ssttiillll ccoonnttiinnuueess ssaayyiinngg tthhaatt
sshhee hhaassnn''tt sseeeenn tthhee MMoosstt HHoollyy VViirrggiinn..

As her attitude since then has been so ob-
stinate and sustained, it is not surprising that this
visionary has been particularly utilized by the
enemies of Garabandal to discredit it.(3) We can-
not then, ignore . . .

2.  We know that this was the Franciscan priest Félix
Larazábal , since Conchita says in a letter to the daughter of
Eloísa de la Roza Velarde on March 9th: «He wwas tthe oone
who wwas hhere wwhen wwe wwere sscreaming oon tthe ffeast oof
Corpus CChristi.»

3.  A Jesuit priest from a neighboring parish distinguished
himself in this; he is now an ex-Jesuit and an ex-priest.

The CCase oof MMari CCruz
Many things have been said about the possible

causes of her persistent negative attitude.  But, in one
way or another, they almost always end up pointing
to an inner state of resentment or bitterness against
the other visionaries or their families.  This could be
blamed on the odious distinctions that many of those
who most frequented the village made between the
girls.  I am obliged to treat this distasteful topic; I do
not want to spend too much time on it; I only want to
bring out information that could clarify it.  This
information makes me think that the negative at-
titude of the visionary in question, rather than being
the fruit of an interior animosity, was the result of
heavy pressures put on her.

On April 6, 1963, Fr. Retenaga wrote in his sec-
ond report to Bishop Beitia:

««MMoonntthhss bbeeffoorree tthhee ccoonnffuusseedd ssiittuuaattiioonn tthhaatt
ccaammee aabboouutt llaasstt JJaannuuaarryy,, tthheerree wwaass aallrreeaaddyy aa
rraatthheerr ggeenneerraall ffeeeelliinngg tthhaatt tthhiiss ggiirrll hhaadd pprreevveenntt-
eedd tthhee aappppaarriittiioonnss..  AAnndd tthhee rreeaassoonn iiss tthhaatt eevveerryy
ssiiggnn ooff hheeaavveennllyy oorriiggiinn ccaannnnoott ccoommee ttoo ddeessttrrooyy
tthhee llaaww,, bbuutt ttoo ppeerrffeecctt iitt..(4) BBeeccaauussee ooff tthhiiss,, tthhee
aappppaarriittiioonnss ccoouulldd nnoott oovveerrrriiddee tthhee nneeeedd ffoorr tthhee
ggiirrllss ttoo oobbeeyy tthheeiirr ppaarreennttss..

AA ccuurriioouuss tthhiinngg iinn tthhiiss rreeggaarrdd wwaass ttoolldd mmee bbyy
LLoollii''ss ffaatthheerr,, CCeeffeerriinnoo:: OOnn tthhee ooccccaassiioonnss tthhaatt II
sseerriioouussllyy ttoolldd mmyy ddaauugghhtteerr ttoo ggoo ttoo bbeedd wwiitthhoouutt
wwaaiittiinngg ffoorr tthhee hhoouurr sscchheedduulleedd ffoorr tthhee aappppaarrii-
ttiioonn,, tthhee aappppaarriittiioonn ddiiddnn''tt ooccccuurr,, aalltthhoouugghh tthhee
ggiirrll hhaadd rreecceeiivveedd ccaallllss..  OOnn tthhee ccoonnttrraarryy,, wwhheenn II
ddiiddnn''tt rreeaallllyy oobblliiggee hheerr,, ssiinnccee II wwaass ssppeeaakkiinngg iinn
jjeesstt oorr oonnllyy wwaanntteedd ttoo tteesstt hheerr,, tthheenn tthhee aappppaarrii-
ttiioonn ddiiddnn''tt ffaaiill .. .. ..

TThhee vviillllaaggee,, iinn iittss ssiimmpplliicciittyy,, hhaadd aann uunnddeerrllyyiinngg
rreelliiggiioouuss aattttiittuuddee..  IInn tthhiiss eennvviirroonnmmeenntt,, wwiitthh rree-
ggaarrdd ttoo tthhee ccaassee ooff MMaarrii CCrruuzz,, II hhaavvee hheeaarrdd ooppiinn-
iioonnss eexxppllaaiinniinngg wwhhaatt hhaappppeenneedd ttoo tthhee cchhiilldd aass dduuee
ttoo aa llaacckk ooff ddeeeepp rreelliiggiioonn iinn hheerr ppaarreennttss..  TThheeyy ——
wwiitthhoouutt bbaadd wwiillll,, bbuutt llaacckkiinngg ddeeeepp ffaaiitthh —— hhaadd
mmoorree oorr lleessss uunnccoonnsscciioouussllyy ooppppoosseedd tthhee ddeessiiggnnss ooff
GGoodd,, ppeerrhhaappss ttoo aavvooiidd tthhee ttrroouubblleess tthhaatt ssiittuuaattiioonnss
lliikkee tthhoossee ooff GGaarraabbaannddaall aallwwaayyss bbrriinngg wwiitthh tthheemm..

4.  An allusion to what Jesus proclaimed at the start of his
Sermon on the Mount. (Matt. 5:17-18)

124



125



AA vviissiittoorr ttoo tthhee vviillllaaggee wwrroottee mmee llaasstt FFeebbrruuaarryy
55tthh tthhaatt MMaarrii CCrruuzz hhaadd ddeenniieedd tthhaatt sshhee hhaadd sseeeenn
tthhee VViirrggiinn;; bbuutt —— tthhee vviissiittoorr aaddddeedd —— hhiiss aatttteenn-
ttiioonn hhaadd bbeeeenn ssttrroonnggllyy aattttrraacctteedd ttoo tthhee ffaacctt tthhaatt
MMaarrii CCrruuzz,, wwhhiillee ddeennyyiinngg,, wwaass ccoonnssttaannttllyy llooookkiinngg
ffiixxeeddllyy aatt hheerr mmootthheerr.. WWhheenn sshhee ddiissppuutteedd tthhee
eeccssttaassiieess tthhaatt sshhee hheerrsseellff hhaadd wwiittnneesssseedd,, hheerr mmootthh-
eerr iinntteerrrruupptteedd ttoo ttrryy ttoo eexxppllaaiinn tthheemm aass aarriissiinngg
ffrroomm iillllnneessss .. .. ..

DDuurriinngg mmyy llaasstt vviissiitt ttoo tthhee vviillllaaggee,, tthhee ffiieessttaa ddeell
ggaalllloo(5) wwaass ggooiinngg oonn,, ccoonnssiissttiinngg ooff aa ssppeecciiaall lluunncchh-
eeoonn tthhaatt tthhee cchhiillddrreenn ffrroomm tthhee vviillllaaggee —— bbooyyss ffoorr
oonnee ppaarrtt aanndd tthhee ggiirrllss ffoorr aannootthheerr —— hhaadd oorrggaann-
iizzeedd oonn tthhee SSuunnddaayy ooff tthhee ccaarrnniivvaall..

II ttooookk aaddvvaannttaaggee ooff tthhee ooccccaassiioonn ttoo bbee wwiitthh
MMaarrii CCrruuzz,, wwhhoo —— aafftteerr ssoommee rreessiissttaannccee —— ppeerr-
mmiitttteedd mmee ttoo ttaallkk wwiitthh hheerr..  TThhee mmaarrkkeedd nneerrvvoouuss-
nneessss ooff tthhee ggiirrll ccoonnttrraasstteedd nnoottiicceeaabbllyy wwiitthh tthhee nnaatt-
uurraallnneessss aanndd ssppoonnttaanneeiittyy wwiitthh wwhhiicchh CCoonncchhiittaa,,
LLoollii,, aanndd JJaacciinnttaa hhaadd pprreevviioouussllyy ssppookkeenn ttoo mmee..

TToo tthhee qquueessttiioonn wwhheetthheerr sshhee hhaadd sseeeenn tthhee MMoosstt
HHoollyy VViirrggiinn,, sshhee rreessppoonnddeedd nneerrvvoouussllyy,, NNoo iitt wwaass
aa lliiee .. .. ..

—— CCoouulldd yyoouu nnooww eenndduurree tthhoossee eeccssttaassiieess tthhaatt
yyoouu ssoommeettiimmeess hhaadd uupp ttoo ttwwoo hhoouurrss lloonngg,, iinn wwhhiicchh
tthheeyy ppiinncchheedd yyoouu,, eettcc??

—— II ddoonn''tt kknnooww..

—— WWeerree yyoouu iillll,, aass yyoouurr mmootthheerr ssaayyss??

—— NNoo,, SSeeññoorr..

—— WWhhyy ddiidd yyoouu llooookk ssoo ffiixxeeddllyy aatt yyoouurr mmootthheerr
wwhheenn II aasskkeedd yyoouu iiff yyoouu hhaadd sseeeenn tthhee VViirrggiinn??

—— II ddoonn''tt kknnooww..

—— SSeevveerraall ttiimmeess aafftteerr tthhee eeccssttaassiieess,, tthhee ppaassttoorr
wwiitthh ootthheerr pprriieessttss aanndd ddooccttoorrss qquueessttiioonneedd tthhee ffoouurr
ooff yyoouu sseeppaarraatteellyy,, oonnee aafftteerr tthhee ootthheerr..  AAllll ooff yyoouu
aaggrreeeedd eexxaaccttllyy oonn tthhee ddeettaaiillss tthhaatt yyoouu ggaavvee ccoonn-
cceerrnniinngg tthhee VViissiioonn .. .. ..  HHooww ccaann yyoouu eexxppllaaiinn tthhiiss,,
iiff nnooww yyoouu ssaayy tthhaatt yyoouu hhaavvee nneevveerr sseeeenn tthhee MMoosstt
HHoollyy VViirrggiinn??

RReessppoonnssee::  ccoommpplleettee ssiilleennccee..

5.  In that year it fell on February 24th.

—— IIff yyoouu hhaavveenn''tt sseeeenn tthhee VViirrggiinn,, aass yyoouu ssaayy
nnooww,, tthheenn tthhee ffoouurr ooff yyoouu hhaadd ttoo aaggrreeee ttoo ffaakkee ffaallssee
eeccssttaassiieess..  AAnndd yyoouu mmuusstt hhaavvee pprraaccttiicceedd mmaannyy
ttiimmeess ttoo ddoo iitt aass wweellll aass yyoouu ddiidd iitt,, nnoo??

—— NNoo,, SSeeññoorr..  WWee nneevveerr ddiidd tthhaatt..

—— WWeellll,, tthheerree iiss aannootthheerr tthhiinngg:: WWeerree yyoouu
aaffrraaiidd ooff ggooiinngg ttoo jjaaiill ffoorr tteelllliinngg lliieess??

“I wwas ttelling aa llie.”

TThhee ffaaccee ooff tthhee ggiirrll ccoonnttoorrtteedd iinn aa lloonngg nneerrvvoouuss
llaauugghh..  FFiinnaallllyy sshhee ssaaiidd:: YYeess,, SSeeññoorr .. .. .. SShhee hheessii-
ttaatteedd aaggaaiinn aanndd ccoonncclluuddeedd,, wwiitthh aann oobbvviioouuss ddeessiirree
ooff ggeettttiinngg oouutt ooff tthhiiss:: II wwaass aaffrraaiidd bbeeccaauussee II wwaass
tteelllliinngg aa lliiee,, aanndd tthheeyy ccoouulldd hhaavvee ffoouunndd uuss oouutt..»»

__________

Anyone who can read needs no help to perceive
the underlying basis of this dialogue.  The girl was
trying to maintain a position that she did not feel, but
which she was forced to hold.  Once again she was
between the sword and the wall: the wall was the
facts that could not be put down or forgotten; the
sword was strong pressure that forced her to go
against everything that she felt.
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At times Mari Cruz said that ««FFeeaarr ffoorrcceedd hheerr ttoo
ffaakkee eeccssttaassiieess ddaayy aafftteerr ddaayy .. .. ..»» But anyone who
knows Garabandal well, knows that this statement
does not stand up against two irrefutable facts:

First, that she often went for weeks with the de-
sire of having an apparition during the times that
her companions were having them without her.

Secondly, that several times she was surprised in
ecstasy in places where there was not a single spec-
tator to incite her to fake an ecstasy.

Fr.  Retenaga concluded:
««DDuurriinngg mmyy llaasstt ssoojjoouurrnn iinn SSaann SSeebbaassttiiáánn ddee

GGaarraabbaannddaall,, mmyy aatttteennttiioonn wwaass ffoorrcceeffuullllyy ccaalllleedd ttoo
tthhee ffaacctt tthhaatt CCoonncchhiittaa,, LLoollii aanndd JJaacciinnttaa ccoonnffeesssseedd
aanndd tthheenn rreecceeiivveedd CCoommmmuunniioonn oonn tthhoossee ddaayyss,,
wwhhiillee MMaarrii CCrruuzz ddiiddnn''tt ccoonnffeessss oorr rreecceeiivvee CCoomm-
mmuunniioonn..»»  Although this cannot be given too much
importance, it can be an indication.

Not long after the interview with Mari Cruz,
another episode occurred that was reported in
L'Etoile dans la Montagne:

««OOnnee ddaayy iinn MMaarrcchh,, 11996633,, wwee ffoouunndd oouurrsseellvveess
iinn aa lliittttllee ssttoorree aatt tthhee vviillllaaggee,, iinn ccoommppaannyy ooff aa
SSppaanniisshh ffrriieenndd,, aa llaawwyyeerr..  AAfftteerr aa wwhhiillee MMaarrii CCrruuzz
ccaammee.. SShhee ssttooppppeedd aatt tthhee eennttrraannccee aanndd ggaavvee uuss aa
llooookk ffuullll ooff ssaaddnneessss..  SShhee wwaass tthheenn 1133 yyeeaarrss oolldd..
HHeerr ffaaccee wwaass ppaallee,, ddrraawwnn .. .. ..  SShhee rreeppeeaatteedd:: NNoo,, II
hhaavvee nneevveerr sseeeenn tthhee VViirrggiinn..  SShhee ddiidd nnoott mmaakkee aa
mmoottiioonn aanndd hheerr mmoonnoottoonnoouuss vvooiiccee sseeeemmeedd ttoo bbee
ccoommiinngg ffrroomm aannootthheerr wwoorrlldd..

“I hhave nnever sseen tthe VVirgin.”

OOuurr SSppaanniisshh ffrriieenndd,, ffoorr aa ccoonnssiiddeerraabbllee ttiimmee,,
bbeessiieeggeedd hheerr wwiitthh qquueessttiioonnss aanndd ccoommmmeennttss

wwiitthhoouutt ssuucccceessss..  HHee ddiiddnn''tt ddrraaww aannyytthhiinngg oouutt ooff
hheerr bbeessiiddeess tthhee NNoo,, II hhaavvee nneevveerr sseeeenn tthhee VViirrggiinn,,
tthhaatt sshhee rreeppeeaatteedd eennddlleessssllyy,, aanndd aallwwaayyss iinn tthhee
ssaammee ttoonnee..

FFiinnaallllyy sshhee lleefftt wwiitthhoouutt ssaalluuttiinngg uuss,, wwhhiicchh iiss
vveerryy uunnuussuuaall iinn tthhee vviillllaaggee ooff GGaarraabbaannddaall,, wwhheerree
tthhee ppeeooppllee aallwwaayyss sshhooww tthheemmsseellvveess ssoo ccoouurrtteeoouuss..
OOuurr ffrriieenndd,, tthhee llaawwyyeerr,, ccoouulldd nnoott pprreevveenntt hhiimmsseellff
ffrroomm ssaayyiinngg,, WWee hhaavvee jjuusstt sseeeenn aa pphhaannttoomm;; tthhaatt
wwaass nnoott MMaarrii CCrruuzz wwhhoo ssppookkee..»»

New PPhenomena:
Locutions

The raging waves of the great disillusion that
were dashing against Garabandal during the winter
of 1963 reached also, as we have seen, the one who
seemed the most secure of the four: Conchita.  Not
only with regard to the truth of what had occurred,
but also with regard to the fulfillment of what she
had predicted.

II aallssoo ddoouubbtteedd aa lliittttllee tthhaatt tthhee MMiirraaccllee
wwoouulldd ccoommee..

AAnndd oonnee ddaayy,, wwhhiillee iinn mmyy rroooomm,,
ddoouubbttiinngg iiff tthhee MMiirraaccllee wwoouulldd rreeaallllyy
ccoommee,, II hheeaadd aa vvooiiccee tthhaatt ssaaiidd::

CCoonncchhiittaa,, ddoo nnoott ddoouubbtt tthhaatt mmyy SSoonn
wwiillll ppeerrffoorrmm aa MMiirraaccllee..

II ffeelltt tthhiiss iinnssiiddee;; bbuutt aass cclleeaarr aass iiff iitt
ccaammee tthhrroouugghh mmyy eeaarrss;; oorr eevveenn cclleeaarreerr..

IItt wwaass wwiitthhoouutt wwoorrddss..
IItt lleefftt mmee aa ppeeaaccee .. .. ..  AA jjooyy!!
MMoorree tthhaann wwhheenn II sseeee HHeerr..
AAnndd tthhee ffiirrsstt ppeerrssoonn ttoo wwhhoomm II ttoolldd tthhiiss

wwaass PPlláácciiddoo..(6)

AAnndd llaatteerr hhee ttoolldd iitt ttoo tthhee ootthheerrss..
TThheeyy aarree ccaalllleedd llooccuuttiioonnss..
AAnndd tthheeyy ccoouulldd bbee ccaalllleedd aa vvooiiccee ooff jjooyy,,

aa vvooiiccee ooff hhaappppiinneessss,, aa vvooiiccee ooff ppeeaaccee..

6.  Plácido Ruiloba, a businessman from the capital of
Santander, whose name comes up many times in this story.
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“What happiness!  With the Most Holy Virgin within me!”
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AAnndd tthheenn,, II ddiiddnn''tt ddoouubbtt aannyytthhiinngg aaggaaiinn..
BBuutt tthhee ddaayyss ppaasssseedd..
AAnndd tthhee vvooiiccee ddiiddnn''tt rreettuurrnn..
TThhaatt mmaaddee mmee ssuuffffeerr..
BBuutt II uunnddeerrssttaanndd:: hhooww ccoouulldd GGoodd ggoo

oonn ggiivviinngg mmee ssuucchh hhaappppiinneessss ssoo oofftteenn,,
wwiitthhoouutt mmeerriittiinngg iitt??

TThhee llooccuuttiioonnss ddiidd mmee mmuucchh ggoooodd..
MMuucchh,, vveerryy mmuucchh..
BBeeccaauussee iitt wwaass aass iiff tthhee MMoosstt HHoollyy

VViirrggiinn wweerree wwiitthhiinn mmee..
WWhhaatt hhaappppiinneessss!!
II pprreeffeerr tthhee llooccuuttiioonn mmoorree tthhaann tthhee

aappppaarriittiioonnss,, ssiinnccee dduurriinngg tthhee llooccuuttiioonn,, II
hhaavvee hheerr iinn mmyy vveerryy sseellff..

OOhh!!  WWhhaatt hhaappppiinneessss,, wwiitthh tthhee MMoosstt
HHoollyy VViirrggiinn wwiitthhiinn mmee!!

AAnndd wwhhaatt aa sshhaammee,, ttoo bbee ssoo bbaadd!!
BBuutt tthhaatt iiss tthhee wwoorrlldd..

These sentences were almost the last in Conchita's
unfinished diary.  They bring out new(7) phenomena
that came to supplant and extend the apparitions.
They differed from the apparitions not only in
content, but also in frequency: the locutions oc-
curred on few occasions.

The first locution — which Conchita mentions in
her diary — took place at the beginning of Lent in
March of 1963.  There was a month lapse before
another occurred.

AAtt tthhee eenndd ooff tthhee mmoonntthh,, aaggaaiinn II hheeaarrdd
tthhaatt vvooiiccee ooff iinntteerriioorr hhaappppiinneessss wwiitthhoouutt
wwoorrddss,, iinn tthhee cchhuurrcchh..

The adolescent girl — having just had her 14th
birthday — was at that time living a period of special
fervor.  In Maximina's letter of February 11th, it can
be read:

««CCoonncchhiittaa,, wwhheenn sshhee iiss hhoommee,, (that is, not
working in the fields) ssppeennddss aallmmoosstt tthhee wwhhoollee
ddaayy iinn cchhuurrcchh..  IInn tthhee mmoorrnniinngg sshhee ggooeess tthheerree ttoo
pprraayy aa rroossaarryy aanndd ssoommee wwoommeenn ggoo wwiitthh hheerr;; iinn
tthhee aafftteerrnnoooonn sshhee ggooeess ttoo ssppeenndd mmoosstt ooff tthhee ddaayy
tthheerree..  SShhee ddooeessnn''tt kknnooww wwhhaatt iitt iiss ttoo ggeett wweeaarryy..  

7.  New in the affairs of Garabandal; but very ancient in the
course of Catholic mysticism.

TThhee ootthheerr ddaayy II aasskkeedd hheerr,, WWhhaatt ddoo yyoouu lliikkee mmoosstt::
ttoo ppllaayy oorr ttoo bbee iinn tthhee cchhuurrcchh?? AAnndd sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo
mmee,, II lliikkee bbootthh tthhiinnggss vveerryy mmuucchh..»»(8)

__________

An interval of one month between locutions
seemed to become routine,(9) since on November 28th
of that same year, Conchita wrote to María Herrero
de Gallardo:

««YYoouu ssaayy tthhaatt II sshhoouulldd tteellll yyoouu tthhiinnggss aabboouutt tthhee
VViirrggiinn..  WWhhaatt aamm II ggooiinngg ttoo tteellll yyoouu,, iiff II ddoonn''tt sseeee
hheerr nnooww??  OOnnllyy tthhaatt II ttaallkk ttoo hheerr oonnccee eeaacchh mmoonntthh..
II ssttiillll hhaavveenn''tt ssppookkeenn wwiitthh hheerr tthhiiss mmoonntthh..  TToo-
mmoorrrrooww oorr tthhee ddaayy aafftteerr,, sshhee wwiillll ssppeeaakk ttoo mmee..»»

__________

María de Gallardo added a note that said: ««OOnn
tthhee ffoolllloowwiinngg ddaayy,, NNoovveemmbbeerr 2299tthh,, sshhee hhaadd tthhee
llooccuuttiioonn tthhaatt sshhee wwaass eexxppeeccttiinngg..»»

*  *  *

But we are indebted to Fr. Retenaga for the best
information on the Garabandal locutions.  Quoting
from his third report, finished in September of 1963:

««II ttrraavveelleedd ttoo GGaarraabbaannddaall ttoo aaiidd tthhee ppaarriisshh
pprriieesstt dduurriinngg tthhee ppaasstt HHoollyy WWeeeekk..(10) IInn SSaannttaann-
ddeerr,, II hhaadd aallrreeaaddyy hheeaarrdd rruummoorrss tthhaatt wweerree cciirrccuu-
llaattiinngg aammoonngg tthhee ppeeooppllee ccoonncceerrnniinngg CCoonncchhiittaa''ss
aanndd LLoollii''ss nneeww aanndd eexxttrraaoorrddiinnaarryy pphheennoommeennoonn..

JJuulliiaa GGoonnzzáálleezz,, LLoollii''ss mmootthheerr,, ttaallkkeedd ttoo mmee
aabboouutt aa ccoonnvveerrssaattiioonn sshhee hhaadd iinn MMaarrcchh wwiitthh hheerr
ddaauugghhtteerr ccoonncceerrnniinngg tthhee nneeww pphheennoommeennoonn tthhaatt
LLoollii ddiiddnn''tt kknnooww hhooww ttoo eexxppllaaiinn..

DDuurriinngg HHoollyy WWeeeekk,, tthhee ggiirrllss ttaallkkeedd ttoo mmee
rreeppeeaatteeddllyy aabboouutt tthhee iinntteerrnnaall vviissiioonnss tthhaatt tthheeyy
aappppeeaarreedd ttoo bbee hhaavviinngg..  II wwaass aabbllee ttoo eexxaammiinnee

8.  A sincere and most human answer, which reveals how
normal Conchita was.  What 14 year old girl would not like to
amuse herself, with the world just beginning to spread open
before her?  Merit is in knowing how to renounce at times the
desire for pleasure out of higher motives, so as to attend to
matters that are more important, although less pleasurable.
Here again is seen the theological axiom that grace does not
destroy nature, but perfects it.

9.  This was affirmed by Maximina’s letter of July 7 to Mrs.
Asunción Pifarré:

«I ddon’t kknow iif II’ve ttold yyou tthat CConchita aand LLoli hhave
locutions —— wwhich iis ssomething llike ttalking tto tthe VVirgin
without sseeing hher .. .. ..  TThey ttold mme tthat tthey ffeel aa ggreat jjoy
when tthey hhave tthese llocutions.  II tthink tthat tthey hhave tthem
once aa mmonth.»

10.  In that year it fell between the 7th and the 14th of April.
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CCoonncchhiittaa aanndd LLoollii sseeppaarraatteellyy,, aanndd II ccaammee ttoo tthhee
ccoonncclluussiioonn tthhaatt tthhiiss ccoonncceerrnneedd llooccuuttiioonnss,, aass llaatteerr
II iinnffoorrmmeedd BBiisshhoopp BBeeiittiiaa ooff SSaannttaannddeerr iinn aa ccoonn-
vveerrssaattiioonn wwiitthh hhiimm oonn AApprriill 1177tthh..

“I hhear iit wwithout hhearing.”

CCoonncchhiittaa ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt tthhee nneeww pphheennoommeennoonn
hhaadd aallrreeaaddyy hhaappppeenneedd ttoo hheerr sseevveerraall ttiimmeess..  OOnn
aasskkiinngg hheerr ttoo eexxppllaaiinn iitt bbeetttteerr,, sshhee ttoolldd mmee,, II hheeaarr
ssoommeetthhiinngg;; yyeett II hheeaarr iitt wwiitthhoouutt hheeaarriinngg..

TThhee nneeww pphheennoommeennoonn bbeeggaann iinn MMaarrcchh,, wwhheenn
sshhee hhaadd bbeeeenn ssuuffffeerriinngg ssiinnccee tthhee ppaasstt JJaannuuaarryy dduuee
ttoo tthhee aabbsseennccee ooff tthhee VViirrggiinn..  AAssssaaiilleedd bbyy mmaannyy
ppeeooppllee''ss ddoouubbttss,, sshhee aallssoo hhaadd bbeegguunn ttoo wwaavveerr..  AAnndd
oonnee ddaayy oonn hheerr kknneeeess aatt hhoommee,, wwiitthh ccoonnssiiddeerraabbllee
aanngguuiisshh,, sshhee hheeaarrdd tthhee VViirrggiinn ssaayy ((wwiitthhoouutt ssppeeaakk-
iinngg)):: DDoo nnoott ddoouubbtt tthhaatt mmyy SSoonn wwiillll ppeerrffoorrmm aa
mmiirraaccllee.. AAfftteerr tthhaatt ttiimmee hheerr ccoonnffiiddeennccee wwiitthh rreess-
ppeecctt ttoo tthhee mmiirraaccllee (11) wwaass eevviiddeenntt iinn tthhee uunnaalltteerr-
aabbllee ppeeaaccee tthhaatt sshhee nnooww eennjjooyyss..  SShhee ccoonnffeesssseedd ttoo
mmee tthhaatt aatt tthhee ssaammee ttiimmee sshhee hheeaarrdd wwiitthhoouutt hheeaarr-
iinngg ootthheerr tthhiinnggss ffoorr tthhee ggoooodd ooff hheerr oowwnn ssoouull aanndd
ssoouullss ooff ootthheerrss..

TThhee mmyyssttiiccss hhaavvee ddeessccrriibbeedd tthheeiirr ddiiffffiiccuullttiieess
iinn eexxppllaaiinniinngg tthhee hhiigghh ssppiirriittuuaall ccoommmmuunniiccaa-
ttiioonnss tthhaatt tthheeyy rreecceeiivvee ffrroomm GGoodd..  IInn CCoonncchhiittaa
aanndd LLoollii tthhee mmaatttteerr wwaass ccoommpplliiccaatteedd bbyy tthheeiirr

11.  A letter that Conchita wrote to Father Odriozola in the
early days of May ended this way:

«I aam ccertain aalso tthat tthe MMiracle wwill ccome, ssince tthe
Virgin ttold mme, aand aalso tthe ddate oof tthe MMiracle, aand iin wwhat iit
will cconsist .. .. ..  II aam aas ccertain tthat tthe MMiracle wwill ccome aas II
am tthat ttwo aand ttwo eequal ffour.»

ppoooorr vvooccaabbuullaarryy..  TThheeiirr eedduuccaattiioonn wwaass vveerryy lliimm-
iitteedd,, eessppeecciiaallllyy wwiitthh rreeggaarrdd ttoo rreelliiggiioonn..  DDuurriinngg
tthhee ttiimmee ooff tthhee aappppaarriittiioonnss,, tthheeyy ssttiillll aasskkeedd wwhhaatt
tthhee wwoorrdd ccoouunncciill mmeeaanntt;; aanndd sseevveerraall ttiimmeess tthheeyy
aasskkeedd mmee aabboouutt wwoorrddss tthhaatt sseeeemmeedd vveerryy oorrddiinnaarryy
ttoo aallll ooff uuss..  LLiivviinngg wwiitthhoouutt aa rreessiiddeenntt pprriieesstt iinn
tthhee vviillllaaggee hhaadd mmaaddee iitt ddiiffffiiccuulltt ffoorr tthheeiirr rreellii-
ggiioouuss ffoorrmmaattiioonn..  TTooddaayy,, tthhee mmiinnddss ooff tthhee ggiirrllss
aarree mmuucchh mmoorree eennlliigghhtteenneedd tthhaann pprreevviioouussllyy;; bbuutt
tthheeyy ssttuummbbllee wwiitthh ggrreeaatt ddiiffffiiccuullttyy iinn ddeessccrriibbiinngg
tthheeiirr iinntteerriioorr eexxppeerriieenncceess..

IInn mmyy ffiirrsstt iinnvveessttiiggaattiioonn II nnoottiicceedd tthhaatt CCoonn-
cchhiittaa ddiiddnn’’tt kknnooww tthhaatt tthhee ssaammee pphheennoommeennoonn hhaadd
bbeeeenn  ggiivveenn ttoo LLoollii..  ((AAnndd lliikkeewwiissee LLoollii ddiiddnn’’tt
kknnooww aabboouutt CCoonncchhiittaa))..  BBuutt bbootthh,, wwhheenn sseeppaarraatt-
eedd,, ccooiinncciiddeedd wwiitthh eeaacchh ootthheerr iinn tthheeiirr aannsswweerrss ttoo
mmee..  BBootthh iinnssiisstteedd tthhaatt nneeiitthheerr tthheeiirr ffeeeelliinnggss nnoorr
tthheeiirr iimmaaggiinnaattiioonn hhaadd ppllaayyeedd aannyy ppaarrtt iinn wwhhaatt
hhaadd hhaappppeenneedd ttoo tthheemm..

NNoott ssaattiissffiieedd wwiitthh tthhee ffiirrsstt eexxaammiinnaattiioonn,, oonn
rreettuurrnniinngg ffrroomm GGaarraabbaannddaall ttoo mmyy qquuaarrtteerrss,, II
ccoommppoosseedd aa lliisstt ooff qquueessttiioonnss aanndd ttooookk aaddvvaannttaaggee
ooff CCoonncchhiittaa''ss ttrriipp ttoo LLoouurrddeess (12) ttoo ccoommpplleettee

12.  This trip, arranged by Fr. Retenaga, had its story.
On May 9th Conchita wrote to Fr. José Ramón, the pastor
of Barro:

«I sstill ddon’t kknow iif wwe aare ggoing tto LLourdes.  MMy mmother
thinks wwe wwon’t ggo, ssince sshe pprayed tthat iif tthis wwere ttrue, tthat
we wwould ggo; aand iif iit wwere aa llie, wwe wwould sstay.  AAnd sshe tthinks
that wwe wwon’t ggo.»

________

Seven days later, on May 16th, another letter was addressed
to the same person:

«Yesterday II rreceived yyour ccard, aand II aam rresponding tto
tell yyou tthat ttoday II aam lleaving (for Rentería or San Sebastián
to join there with the pilgrims from the diocese of Guipuz-
coana) to ggo oon SSaturday tto LLourdes.»

________

We have the testimony of Father Retenaga on Conchita’s
attitude during her first visit to Lourdes:

«Among tthe 11,300 SSpanish ppilgrims wwho wwere wwandering
enthusiastically iin tthe llocale wwhere tthe aapparitions hhad ttaken
place, aamid tthe rreligious eemotion aaroused iin tthem bby bbeing
near tthe ggrotto dduring tthe bbaths ffor tthe ssick, bbefore tthe
devotion ffelt dduring tthe BBenediction oof tthe ssick wwith tthe
Blessed SSacrament, bbefore tthe sstriking sspectacle oof tthe
candlelight pprocession, eetc., II ccan aassure yyou tthat CConchita,
though 114 yyears oold, wwas tthe pperson wwho ggave mme tthe ggreatest
impression oof eequilibrium, pprudence aand ccalmness, wwith aa
piety bbased mmore oon tthe ttranquil ssecurity oof ffaith aand vvirtue
than oon ppassing ffluctuation oof eemotion.  IIf sshe wwere aafflicted bby
any ppsychiatric iillness, aas hhad bbeen ssaid oon ooccasion aand
repeated, ccould sshe hhave rremained llike tthat?  WWould sshe nnot
have ffallen iinevitably iinto aan ecstasy?»
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“My Son will perform a miracle.”
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mmyy iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn..  LLaatteerr ((iinn tthhee mmoonntthh ooff JJuullyy)) II
ccoonnttiinnuueedd qquueessttiioonniinngg hheerr;; aanndd aafftteerrwwaarrdd,, aappaarrtt
ffrroomm hheerr,, II qquueessttiioonneedd LLoollii..»»

__________

Following are the most interesting answers to Fr.
Retenaga's questionnaire:

To the question as to whether the interior voices
had been heard by their physical ears, the two girls
responded definitely: ««NNoo SSeeññoorr..»»

Also they absolutely rejected any suggestion that
it could have been their imagination or that they
could have been dreaming.  Opposing this latter idea,
Conchita stated: ««IItt wwaass dduurriinngg tthhee ddaayy»», and Loli:
««IItt wwaass wwhheenn II wwaass wwiiddee aawwaakkee..»»

They denied likewise that they could have these
interior voices when they wanted . . .  ««LLiisstteenn
LLoolliittaa» — Fr. Retenaga said — ««ssiinnccee JJeessuuss iiss iinn
tthhee ttaabbeerrnnaaccllee aanndd yyoouu rreecceeiivvee HHiimm eevveerryy ddaayy,,
hhoollddiinngg HHiimm tthhaatt wwaayy,, yyoouu aarree aabbllee ttoo hheeaarr HHiiss
wwoorrddss wwhheenneevveerr yyoouu wwaanntt,, iissnn''tt tthhaatt rriigghhtt??

OOhh!!  NNoo SSeeññoorr..  IIff II ccoouulldd hheeaarr HHiiss wwoorrddss
wwhheenneevveerr II wwaanntteedd,, II wwoouulldd bbee hheeaarriinngg tthheemm aallll
tthhee ttiimmee..»»

Conchita said that her locutions always came
when she was in prayer: sometimes in her home, but
ordinarily in the church.  Loli said the same thing,
declaring that twice she heard them in her room
unexpectedly; another time, while she was praying
at the Cuadro in the calleja; and the rest of the time
in the church, one of these times after receiving
Holy Communion.

Most interesting was the response to Fr. Reten-
aga's question as to whether they would choose an
apparition, a Communion, or a locution.  ««CCoomm-
mmuunniioonn!!»» They responded without hesitation.

««UUnnddeerrssttaanndd»» — noted Fr. Retenaga — ««tthhee
wwoorrddss ooff tthhaatt aannsswweerr,, ttaakkiinngg iinnttoo aaccccoouunntt tthhee ssttaattee
ooff hhaappppiinneessss aanndd tthhee eeffffeeccttss tthhaatt ffoolllloowweedd ffoorr
tthheemm ffrroomm tthhee aappppaarriittiioonnss aanndd llooccuuttiioonnss,, iinn
ccoonnttrraasstt wwiitthh tthhee aarriiddiittyy aanndd ddrryynneessss tthhaatt ssoo oofftteenn
aaccccoommppaanniieedd tthheeiirr CCoommmmuunniioonnss..»»

During their locutions, many things must have
been discussed by the visionaries that we will never
know.  This is clear from some of the remarks made
by Father Retenaga:

««OOnnee ddaayy CCoonncchhiittaa ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt sshhee ggaavvee aa
rreeppllyy ttoo aa mmaann wwhhoo wwaassnn''tt aa CCaatthhoolliicc;; sshhee aallssoo ttooookk
aannootthheerr rreeppllyy —— wwhhiicchh sshhee wwaass rreeqquuiirreedd ttoo kkeeeepp
sseeccrreett —— ttoo aa yyoouunngg mmaann wwhhoo oovveerrttllyy ddiiddnn''tt
bbeelliieevvee iinn GGoodd oorr iinn pprriieessttss..(13) AAnndd wwiitthh rreeggaarrdd ttoo
hheerrsseellff,, sshhee hhaadd bbeeeenn ttoolldd sseeccrreettss ccoonncceerrnniinngg hheerr
aaccttuuaall lliiffee aanndd hheerr ffuuttuurree,, bbuutt sshhee ddiiddnn''tt ssppeecciiffyy
wwhhaatt tthheeyy wweerree,, ssiinnccee sshhee llaacckkeedd eexxpprreessss ppeerrmmiiss-
ssiioonn ffrroomm tthhee VViirrggiinn..»»

__________

But still more expressive was what happened
to Loli:

««II hhaadd aasskkeedd LLoollii ttoo ppuutt ssoommee tthhiinnggss iinn wwrriitt-
iinngg .. .. ..  II wwaass ssppeeaakkiinngg wwiitthh hheerr oonn tthhee aafftteerrnnoooonn
ooff JJuullyy 2255tthh wwhheenn sshhee ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt vveerryy mmoorrnniinngg
sshhee hhaadd wwaanntteedd ttoo wwrriittee wwhhaatt II hhaadd aasskkeedd hheerr,,
aanndd sshhee wwaass aallll sseett ttoo bbeeggiinn..  BBuutt aa ffoorrccee ffrroomm
aabboovvee hheelldd bbaacckk hheerr aarrmm..  AAtt tthhee ssaammee ttiimmee,, sshhee
wwaass ttoolldd iinn aa llooccuuttiioonn:: DDoo nnoott wwrriittee aannyytthhiinngg ffoorr
hhiimm rriigghhtt nnooww..

II hhiidd mmyy aassttoonniisshhmmeenntt aanndd ttoolldd hheerr tthhaatt iitt wwaass
nnaattuurraall ffoorr hheerr nnoott ttoo wwrriittee aannyytthhiinngg aabboouutt iitt,,
ssiinnccee wwhhaatt sshhee wwaanntteedd ttoo tteellll mmee hhaadd sslliippppeedd hheerr
mmiinndd.. SShhee aannsswweerreedd tthhaatt sshhee rreemmeemmbbeerreedd eevveerryy-
tthhiinngg ppeerrffeeccttllyy,, bbuutt tthhaatt sshhee wwaassnn''tt aabbllee ttoo wwrriittee
bbeeccaauussee ooff tthhee ffoorrccee ffrroomm aabboovvee tthhaatt hheelldd bbaacckk hheerr
aarrmm .. .. ..  AAnndd tthhaatt sshhee hhaadd mmaannyy ootthheerr tthhiinnggss tthhaatt
sshhee ccoouullddnn''tt mmeennttiioonn eeiitthheerr..»»

__________

From these incidents, it can be seen that we still
do not know a considerable portion of what actually
happened in Garabandal . . .  Is that surprising?
Everything there was of such extraordinary propor-
tions, both in duration and in intensity.

*  *  *

The Most Holy Virgin was the first to intervene in
the locutions that extended throughout 1963; later
Our Lord took part.

The locutions of the Virgin were imbued with
her magnificent maternal attitude.  In the locution
of July 25th that was mentioned — the feast of St.

13.  Things like this were the basis for people to think
that Conchita read consciences.  On November 8th, 1966,
Conchita mentioned to the Mother Superior of the school
at Burgos:

«I tthink bback mmany ttimes tto wwhat hhappened iin mmy vvillage.
There wwere tthose wwho ccame tthere bbecause tthey bbelieved tthat II
read cconsciences.  TThis mmade mme llaugh.  HHow wwas II ggoing tto
read cconsciences?  TThe VVirgin aadvised mme aabout tthe tthings
that II ttold ssome ppeople aat tthe ttime.»
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“Change your ways.”

James the Apostle, Patron Saint of Spain — the
Virgin called Loli's attention to an attitude of the
girl that could well be defined as a fault of vanity.
««CChhaannggee yyoouurr wwaayyss»» — she said — ««aanndd ddoo nnoott
ddoo iitt aaggaaiinn..»» With regard to this, here is an in-
teresting dialogue:

FFAATTHHEERR RREETTEENNAAGGAA — ««AAfftteerr tthhaatt rreepprriimmaanndd,,
wweerree yyoouu hhuurrtt,, lliikkee aa cchhiilldd wwhhoo iiss ddiisscciipplliinneedd bbyy
hhiiss ppaarreennttss??

LLOOLLII — NNoo,, SSeeññoorr..

FFAATTHHEERR RREETTEENNAAGGAA — TThheenn,, yyoouu ddiiddnn''tt ttaakkee iitt
sseerriioouussllyy??

LLOOLLII — NNoo SSeeññoorr..  II ccaann''tt eexxppllaaiinn iitt;; bbuutt wwhhaatt
II ffeelltt wwaass aa mmiixxttuurree ooff ppaaiinn aanndd ccoonnssoollaattiioonn,, oorr
ccoonnffiiddeennccee,, ssiinnccee tthheerree iiss nnoo mmootthheerr wwhhoo iiss ssoo
uunnddeerrssttaannddiinngg aanndd ggoooodd aass tthhee oonnee wwee hhaavvee iinn
hheeaavveenn,, tthhee MMoosstt HHoollyy VViirrggiinn .. .. ..»»

The locutions of Jesus had their own particular
singularity.  Conchita points this out in the last lines

of her diary:

BBuutt II lliikkee eevveenn mmoorree ttoo hhaavvee JJeessuuss
wwiitthhiinn mmee .. .. ..

—— JJeessuuss,, wwhhoo ggiivvee mmee tthhee ccrroossss ttoo
ppuurriiffyy mmee,,

—— AAnndd aallssoo ttoo sseeee iiff wwiitthh mmyy ccrroosssseess II
ccaann ddoo ssoommeetthhiinngg ffoorr tthhee wwoorrlldd..

Two and a half years later (November 9th, 1966),
she said to Sister María Nieves at her school in
Burgos: ««TThhee aappppaarriittiioonnss aanndd llooccuuttiioonnss ooff tthhee
VViirrggiinn ffiillll mmee wwiitthh hhaappppiinneessss;; bbuutt tthhee llooccuuttiioonnss
ooff JJeessuuss aarree eevveenn bbeetttteerr .. .. ..  TThheeyy sseeeemm ttoo bbee
ssoommeetthhiinngg ssuuppeerriioorr..»»

We have an illustration of these locutions,
since one day Conchita wrote down in front of
Father Retenaga, who was in Garabandal at the
time, what she heard that very day(14) after having

14.  The version given here basically follows the text from
Fr. Retenaga’s letter; logical punctuations and separations
were put in so that the contents can be better understood.
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received Communion during the Mass he celebrated
on July 10th, 1963:

(Though not part of Conchita's Diary, the girl wrote
this shortly after her unfinished diary and its impor-
tance dictates the heavy print given to it here.)

II wwaass mmaakkiinngg mmyy tthhaannkkssggiivviinngg aanndd
pprraayyiinngg ffoorr tthhiinnggss..  HHee aannsswweerreedd mmee .. .. ..

II aasskkeedd HHiimm ttoo ggiivvee mmee aa ccrroossss ssiinnccee II
wwaass lliivviinngg wwiitthhoouutt ssuuffffeerriinngg —— eexxcceepptt tthhee
ssuuffffeerriinngg ooff nnoott hhaavviinngg aa ccrroossss..

AAnndd hhee aannsswweerreedd:: YYeess..  II wwiillll ggiivvee yyoouu
aa ccrroossss..

AAnndd wwiitthh mmuucchh ffeeeelliinngg,, II wweenntt oonn
pprraayyiinngg .. .. ..

AAnndd II ssaaiidd ttoo HHiimm,, WWhhyy iiss tthhee MMiirraaccllee
ccoommiinngg?? .. .. ..  ttoo ccoonnvveerrtt mmaannyy ppeeooppllee??

HHee aannsswweerreedd,, TToo ccoonnvveerrtt tthhee wwhhoollee
wwoorrlldd..

—— WWiillll RRuussssiiaa bbee ccoonnvveerrtteedd??

—— IItt aallssoo wwiillll bbee ccoonnvveerrtteedd;; aanndd ssoo
eevveerryyoonnee wwiillll lloovvee OOuurr HHeeaarrttss..(15)

—— WWiillll tthhee cchhaassttiisseemmeenntt ccoommee aafftteerr-
wwaarrddss??

((HHee ddiiddnn''tt aannsswweerr mmee..))

—— WWhhyy ddoo yyoouu ccoommee ttoo mmyy ppoooorr hheeaarrtt,,
wwiitthhoouutt mmyy mmeerriittiinngg iitt??

—— II cceerrttaaiinnllyy ddoo nnoott ccoommee ffoorr yyoouu;; II
ccoommee ffoorr eevveerryyoonnee..

—— WWhheenn tthhee MMiirraaccllee ccoommeess,, wwiillll iitt bbee
aass tthhoouugghh II wweerree tthhee oonnllyy oonnee wwhhoo ssaaww
tthhee VViirrggiinn??

15.  Here the word hearts is used for persons.  Conchita
translates in her common vocabulary what she had received
intellectually in a locution; in ordinary common Spanish
expression the Sacred Heart of Jesus is the same as Jesus, just as
the Immaculate Heart of Mary is the same as The Virgin Mary.

What is meant in the text of the locution is that mankind
will have a new and better attitude towards Jesus and Mary
after the general conversion brought on by the Miracle.

—— HHee aannsswweerreedd mmee,, BByy yyoouurr ssaaccrrii-
ffiicceess,, yyoouurr ppaattiieennccee,, II wwiillll aallllooww yyoouu ttoo
iinntteerrcceeddee ffoorr tthhee aaccccoommpplliisshhmmeenntt ooff
tthhee MMiirraaccllee..

AAnndd II ssaaiidd ttoo HHiimm:: WWoouullddnn''tt iitt bbee bbeetttteerr
ffoorr mmee ttoo bbee wwiitthh aallll tthhee ootthheerrss;; oorr iiff nnoott,,
tthhaatt YYoouu ddoonn''tt uussee aannyy ooff uuss ttoo iinntteerrcceeddee??

—— NNoo..

—— WWiillll II ggoo ttoo hheeaavveenn??

—— YYoouu sshhoouulldd lloovvee mmuucchh aanndd pprraayy ttoo
OOuurr HHeeaarrttss..

—— WWhheenn wwiillll YYoouu ggiivvee mmee aa ccrroossss??

((HHee ddiiddnn''tt aannsswweerr mmee..))

—— WWhhaatt wwiillll II bbee??

((HHee ddiiddnn''tt aannsswweerr mmee;; HHee oonnllyy ttoolldd mmee
tthhaatt eevveerryywwhheerree tthhaatt II wwoouulldd bbee,, II wwoouulldd
hhaavvee mmuucchh ttoo ssuuffffeerr..))

—— AAmm II ggooiinngg ttoo ddiiee ssoooonn??

—— YYoouu hhaavvee ttoo ssttaayy oonn tthhee eeaarrtthh ttoo
hheellpp tthhee wwoorrlldd..

—— II aamm vveerryy ssmmaallll..  II ccoouullddnn''tt hheellpp
iinn aannyytthhiinngg..

—— WWiitthh yyoouurr pprraayyeerrss aanndd ssuuffffeerriinnggss,,
yyoouu wwiillll hheellpp tthhee wwoorrlldd..(16)

—— WWhheenn ddooeess oonnee ggoo ttoo hheeaavveenn?? .. .. ..
wwhheenn oonnee ddiieess??

—— OOnnee nneevveerr ddiieess..

(( II tthhoouugghhtt tthhaatt wwee ddiiddnn''tt ggoo ttoo hheeaavveenn
uunnttiill wwee wweerree rreessuurrrreecctteedd..))(17)

16.  What Conchita says is useful for all persons of good
will.  All can and should do something . . .  Oh Mystery truly
tremendous that is never sufficiently pondered! — exclaimed
Pius XII in his encyclical "Mystici Corporis"— That the
salvation of some souls depends upon the prayers and
voluntary sacrifices of others.

17.  Death for the Christian is not the final end, but rather
the passing from the present state into another very different
state — which can be extremely marvelous or extremely hor-
rible.  The soul enters immediately into the new state; the body
has to wait for the resurrection.
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II aasskkeedd HHiimm iiff SStt.. PPeetteerr wwaass aatt tthhee
ggaattee ooff hheeaavveenn ttoo rreecceeiivvee uuss;; aanndd HHee ttoolldd
mmee NNoo..(18)

WWhhiillee II wwaass iinn tthhiiss ccoonnvveerrssaattiioonn,, iinn
tthhiiss pprraayyeerr wwiitthh GGoodd,, II ffeelltt mmyysseellff oouutt ooff
tthhee wwoorrlldd..

JJeessuuss aallssoo ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt nnooww HHiiss HHeeaarrtt
sshhoouulldd bbee lloovveedd..

CCoonncceerrnniinngg pprriieessttss .. .. ..

HHee ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt II mmuusstt pprraayy mmuucchh::

z ssoo tthhaatt tthheeyy wwoouulldd bbee hhoollyy aanndd
ffuullffiillll tthheeiirr dduuttiieess;;

z ssoo tthhaatt tthheeyy wwoouulldd mmaakkee ootthheerrss bbeetttteerr;;

z ssoo tthhaatt tthheeyy wwoouulldd mmaakkee MMee kknnoowwnn
ttoo tthhoossee wwhhoo ddoo nnoott kknnooww MMee;;

z ssoo tthhaatt tthheeyy wwoouulldd mmaakkee MMee
lloovveedd bbyy tthhoossee wwhhoo kknnooww MMee aanndd ddoo
nnoott lloovvee MMee..

*  *  *

This page from the history of the locutions in
Garabandal is magnificent . . .

What material for reflection!

But if this page from Conchita's life is well
known, not so well known is a page from Loli's,
which is equally valuable and instructive, and gives
us new insight into the mystical phenomena with
which the two visionaries were favored in 1963.

18.  Conchita expresses ingeniously the common belief —
mentioned in so many jokes — that St. Peter is the gate-keeper
of heaven.  This belief has no more basis than being the
erroneous interpretation of the words spoken by Jesus to his
apostle during the episode at Caesarea Philippi. (Matt. 16:19)

Reading the text of this locution shows well the truth of
what Conchita said later to the Mother Superior in the school
at Burgos:

«The LLord iis vvery sserious, aand wwhen HHe sspeaks tto mme,
He sseems cconcerned ffor eeveryone.  TThe VVirgin, aas iif mmore
for mme .. .. ..»                  (Nov. 17, 1966)

______

However the Virgin’s style was not that different:
«When wwe sspoke aabout tthings ttoo ppersonal, sshe ddidn’t aanswer
us; sshe wwas vvery cconcerned aabout tthe oothers.»

(April 21, 1967)

It is reported in a letter to Fr. Retenaga, dated Oc-
tober 13th, 1963:

««RReevveerreenndd FFaatthheerr LLuuiiss,,

SSoo tthhaatt yyoouu sseeee tthhaatt II ddoo wwhhaatt II pprroommiissee,, II aamm
ggooiinngg ttoo tteellll yyoouu aa ffeeww tthhiinnggss .. .. ..

TThhee VViirrggiinn hhaass mmaaddee mmee kknnooww wwhheenn aa pprriieesstt iiss
iinn ssiinn..  SShhee hhaass hheellppeedd mmee ttoo kknnooww tthhaatt hhee nneeeeddss
mmaannyy pprraayyeerrss aanndd ssaaccrriiffiicceess..(19)

AAllssoo sshhee hhaass ggiivveenn mmee ttoo uunnddeerrssttaanndd tthhee CCrruu-
cciiffiixxiioonn iinn tthhee HHoollyy MMaassss,,(20) ssiinnccee II ccoommpprreehheenndd
tthhee hhuummiilliittyy,, tthhee ssaaccrriiffiiccee ffoorr tthhee wwoorrlldd..

SShhee hhaass aallssoo mmaaddee mmee rreeccooggnniizzee wwhheenn aa ppeerrssoonn
nneeeeddss pprraayyeerrss ttoo bbee ssaaiidd ffoorr hhiimm..  AAnndd oonnee ttiimmee
sshhee ttoolldd mmee aabboouutt aa ppeerrssoonn wwhhoo ddiiddnn’’tt pprraayy tthhee
rroossaarryy,, aanndd tthhaatt ppeerrssoonn ttoolldd mmee ttoo wwrriittee aa nnoottee ffoorr
hhiimm..  AAnndd iinn iitt II wwrroottee ddoowwnn tthhaatt hhee sshhoouulldd pprraayy
tthhee rroossaarryy..  AAnndd hhee tthheenn bbeeggaann ttoo ccrryy aanndd ssaaiidd ttoo
mmee,, WWhhoo ttoolldd yyoouu tthhaatt II ddoonn’’tt pprraayy tthhee rroossaarryy??
AAnndd llaatteerr hhee wwrroottee aanndd ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt ssiinnccee tthhaatt ddaayy
hhee hhaadd nnoott mmiisssseedd ssaayyiinngg iitt..

WWeellll,, FFaatthheerr,, aatt aannootthheerr ttiimmee II wwiillll tteellll yyoouu
mmoorree,, bbeeccaauussee nnooww II aamm wwrriittiinngg ffrroomm mmyy bbeedd,,
ssiinnccee ttoommoorrrrooww II hhaavvee ttoo ggaatthheerr hhaayy iinn tthhee ppaass-
ttuurree,, wwhhiicchh iiss aa lloonngg wwaayy ffrroomm tthhee vviillllaaggee,, aanndd II
hhaavvee ttoo ggeett uupp eeaarrllyy .. .. ..

____________________

TTooddaayy iiss aannootthheerr ddaayy aanndd II aamm ggooiinngg ttoo sseeee iiff II
hhaavvee mmoorree ttiimmee ttoo wwrriittee..  WWeellll,, II ssppookkee wwiitthh tthhee
VViirrggiinn iinn aa llooccuuttiioonn aanndd aasskkeedd hheerr ttoo ggiivvee mmee aa
ccrroossss ttoo ssuuffffeerr ffoorr pprriieessttss..  SShhee ttoolldd mmee ttoo bbeeaarr
eevveerryytthhiinngg wwiitthh ppaattiieennccee(21) aanndd ttoo bbee mmoosstt hhuumm-
bbllee,, wwhhiicchh wwaass wwhhaatt pplleeaasseedd GGoodd tthhee mmoosstt..

AAnndd II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, AAmm II ggooiinngg ttoo ddiiee ssoooonn??

AAnndd sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, NNoo..  YYoouu hhaavvee ttoo rreemmaaiinn
iinn tthhee wwoorrlldd ttoo ssuuffffeerr..  IInn wwhhaatteevveerr ppllaaccee yyoouu

19.  There are numerous incidents demonstrating that Gar-
abandal has always given preferential importance and solic-
itude for priests, antecedent to the greatest crisis in the
priesthood that the Church has ever known.

20.  Also in advance of the time when the primary meaning
of the Catholic Mass, that of sacrifice — the sacrifice of the
Cross — would be forgotten or lost by most people, the Virgin
Mary would come to repeat this lesson.

21.  The Curé d’Ars used to repeat: One hour of patience is
worth more before God than several days of penance.
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aarree,, yyoouu wwiillll ssuuffffeerr..

AAnndd II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, LLeett mmyy ppaarreennttss bbeelliieevvee!!(22)

“Suffer wwith ppatience.”

AAnndd sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, TThheeyy ddoo nnoott bbeelliieevvee,, ssoo tthhaatt
yyoouu wwiillll hhaavvee mmoorree ttoo ssuuffffeerr..  SSuuffffeerr wwiitthh ppaattiieennccee..

SShhee aallssoo ttoolldd mmee,, PPrraayy tthhee rroossaarryy eevveerryy ddaayy..

SShhee ttoolldd mmee,, PPrraayy ffoorr pprriieessttss,, ssiinnccee tthheerree
aarree ssoommee wwhhoo nneeeedd mmoorree ssaaccrriiffiicceess ffoorr tthheemm
eevveerryy ddaayy..

AAnndd aaggaaiinn II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, WWhhyy ddoonn’’tt mmyy ppaarr-
eennttss bbeelliieevvee??

AAnndd sshhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, BBeeccaauussee yyoouu hhaavvee ttoo ssuuff-
ffeerr..  YYoouu hhaavvee mmuucchh ttoo ssuuffffeerr iinn tthhiiss wwoorrlldd..

AAnndd II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, WWhhaatt ssaaccrriiffiicceess sshhoouulldd II mmaakkee??

SShhee ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, YYoouu hhaavvee ttoo bbee mmoorree oobbeeddiieenntt..

II ttoolldd hheerr tthhaatt oonnee ttiimmee II wwaass ggooiinngg ddoowwnn tthhee 

22. It is known that Loli’s parents, especially Ceferino, held
the greatest doubt about the truth of what was happening to
their daughter; and she found this to be a heavy cross.

rrooaadd,, aanndd ssuuddddeennllyy aa mmaann wwiitthh lloonngg hhaaiirr aappppeeaarreedd
ttoo mmee iinn aa lloonngg ccooaatt,, aanndd ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, II aamm hhuunnggrryy..
AAnndd aass II wwaass ccaarrrryyiinngg mmyy lluunncchh iinn mmyy hhaanndd,, II ggaavvee
iitt ttoo hhiimm..  AAnndd ssuuddddeennllyy hhee ddiissaappppeeaarreedd,, wwiitthhoouutt
mmyy kknnoowwiinngg hhooww..  AAnndd II wwaass vveerryy ffrriigghhtteenneedd..  AAnndd
II ssaaiidd ttoo hheerr,, WWhhoo wwaass tthhaatt mmaann?? AAnndd sshhee ssmmiilleedd
aanndd ddiiddnn’’tt tteellll mmee..

II’’mm nnoott wwrriittiinngg mmoorree..  DDoonn’’tt ssaayy tthhaatt II ddoonn’’tt
wwrriittee mmuucchh..(23) GGooooddbbyyee..

MMaarrííaa DDoolloorreess MMaazzóónn»»

This letter does not require learned commen-
taries, but it should be re-read.

It is evident that any similarity between the in-
struction that the Virgin gave her children at Gara-
bandal and that which is now given to many children
by our new theologians, is purely coincidental.

No wonder.  Today what is stressed is the impor-
tance of the individual, while in the school of Mary,
the main focus has always been on the ancient pat-
tern of giving oneself to God and denying one’s
very self.

*  *  *

It could be said that the phenomena of lo-
cutions filled 1963, Garabandal’s third year.  But
there was something else that made a much more
spectacular mark; an unequivocal prediction of
immeasurable importance:

Only TThree PPopes 
Remain!

In the early days of June, not only what is called
the Catholic world, but the entire world was closely
following what was happening in the pope’s chamber
at the Vatican.

There struggling in his last agony, was the one
who had captured more swiftly and amply than

23.  This letter is exceptionally long.  I have seen many
letters written by the visionaries, and I can verify that
almost all of them were very short.
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anyone before, the admiration of almost everyone,
and the love of a great many.  

The final curtain was inexorably descending on
Angelo Giusseppe Roncalli, the man called Pope
John XXIII.

And the world was watching breathlessly for
many days as he painfully died.

On June 3rd came the sudden notice that at last
the flame had gone out.  The Pope was dead.

As in so many other belfries throughout the
world, the crude rustic bells in the church tower in
Garabandal tolled for his death.

But beneath the clanging bells at Garabandal, a
comment was made, very different from those made
in other parts of the world.

*  *  *

The sound from the belltower came to the little
kitchen where the widow Aniceta González and her
daughter Conchita were on that afternoon.

— Listen; they are ringing the bells! — the
daughter exclaimed immediately.

— It’s for the Pope — said the mother.

— Certainly . . .  Now only three remain.

Surprised, Aniceta raised her head:

— What are you saying?

— What I heard.  That only three popes remain.

— And where did you pick that up?

— I didn’t pick it up; the Virgin told it to me.
____________

It would be helpful if Conchita would have ex-
plained to us when and how she heard this.  But
even lacking her explanation, we have sufficient
reason to think that this occurred during the locu-
tions, and presumably during the month of May, the
month of Mary:

In a locution, since the apparitions had ceased
since January, as described, and in their place were
the locutions.

During the month of May, since these locutions
were occurring at intervals approximately once per
month, and during the locution in May she had
talked about the Pope with his terminal illness.

__________

Aniceta, amazed by what she had heard, re-
acted logically:

— Then, you mean that the end of the world
is coming?

— The Virgin didn’t tell me “the end of the
world," but “the end of the times."

— Aren’t they the same?

— I don’t know.(24)

__________

News of this amazing prediction soon spread out;
it was not shouted aloud, but spoken quietly from
person to person.

During those days Paquina de la Roza Velarde
(Dr. Ortiz’ wife) was in the village.  One morning a
funeral mass for the dead pope was to be said in the
parish church, and the bells began to ring early in the
morning.  Paquina, Maximina, another woman and
Conchita, after having prayed the rosary in the
Calleja (How delightful were those rosaries in the
silence and freshness of the morning!) made their
way to the church.  On their way they were speaking
of the current news:

— Perhaps with the pope’s death, the Council(25)

24.  Maximina, Conchita’s aunt and godmother, was present
on the scene, judging from her letter which I saw in the Pifarré
collection, dated June 5:

«On tthe dday tthat tthe HHoly FFather ddied, wwhen iit wwas
mentioned hhere tthat hhe ddied, II wwas wwith CConchita aand sshe ssaid:
Oh, nnow oonly tthree mmore rremain!

Slightly iirritated, hher mmother sspoke tto hher llike tthis: What
do yyou kknow?

And sshe aanswered wwith ggreat cconviction, Well, II kknow, ssince
the VVirgin ttold mme tthis.

Her mmother ddidn’t llike hher tto ssay tthings llike tthis ssince,
although iit ccould bbe sseen tthat sshe bbelieved, yyou kknow sshe
always hhad tthe ffear tthat tthis wwasn’t ttrue .. .. ..»

25.  Vatican II, convoked and inaugurated by John XXIII,
had only finished one session (October-December, 1962)
during which it had taken a direction that certainly was not
what its planners had intended.  The Council had just begun,
and it was expected to continue, but all this depended on what
the new Pope would decide.
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will end too, since . . .

CCoonncchhiittaa:  Another pope will come and the Council
will continue.

— Well, I agree that another pope will come; but
as for the Council . . .  Perhaps the new pope won’t
think like John XXIII.

— Another pope will come and the Council
will continue.

— You seem to be very certain of that; but I don’t
see it so certain.  It could well happen otherwise.

— I’m telling you, and I repeat: another pope
will come and the Council will continue.  And I also
tell you that only three popes remain . . .

Dr. Ortiz’ wife quickly recovered from her sur-
prise and responded to Conchita:

— Oh, you are saying that from the prophecy of
St. Malachy . . .

— St. Malachy?  That’s the first time I heard of
that.  The Virgin told me that after this Pope (John
XXIII) there remain only three; and afterwards, the
end of the times.

— Do you mean the end of the world is coming?

— The Virgin told me, “the end of the times."

— That isn’t the same?

— I don’t know.
__________

This episode is historically accurate(26) and Con-
chita’s statement cannot be taken for a simple, off-
hand remark, since she subsequently repeated it very
seriously in the same words.

One time she told it to the eminent professor
Father Lucio Rodrigo(27) at the Pontifical University

26.  Conchita spoke again about the three Popes that re-
mained and the end of the times.  It happened in Maximina’s
house during the First Communion dinner of her son, Pepe
Luis, to which Mrs. Ortiz was invited.  Conchita repeated the
same thing, without being able to give the explanations that the
listeners’ curiosity desired.

27.  † March 30th, 1973.  On his deathbed he declared that
he had received an unequivocal sign from heaven about the
truth of Garabandal.

in Comillas.  This Father, on the occasion of a visit by
Conchita and her mother,(28) asked the young girl if
she had really said what had been attributed to her.

Conchita told him, ««YYeess FFaatthheerr..  IItt’’ss ttrruuee..  TThhee
VViirrggiinn ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt aafftteerr JJoohhnn XXXXIIIIII oonnllyy tthhrreeee
ppooppeess rreemmaaiinn,, aanndd tthhiiss oonnee,, (Paul VI) iiss tthhee ffiirrsstt
ooff tthhoossee tthhrreeee..»»

In October of 1966, Conchita became a boarder
in the college of the teaching sisters of the Im-
maculate Conception at Burgos.  On November 1st,
the Feast of All Saints, she talked confidentially with
the director of the center, Mother Nieves García.
Among other things, she said this, which the religious
sister wrote down very carefully:

««OOnnee ddaayy II ssaaiidd ttoo tthhee VViirrggiinn,, ‘‘WWiillll tthhee eenndd ooff
tthhee wwoorrlldd bbee dduurriinngg tthhee ttiimmee ooff tthheessee eevveennttss??’’

AAnndd sshhee ttoolldd mmee,, ‘‘NNoo,, tthhee eenndd ooff tthhee ttiimmeess..’’

AAfftteerr PPaauull VVII,, tthheerree wwiillll bbee oonnllyy ttwwoo mmoorree
ppooppeess;; aanndd tthheenn tthhee eenndd ooff tthhee ttiimmeess wwiillll ccoommee..»»

28.  For some time Aniceta and Conchita traveled regu-
larly to the seminary at Comillas — taking advantage of the
cars of friends and acquaintances — to have their con-
fessions heard by this priest.

Fr. RRodrigo wwith CConchita, AAniceta, aand FFr. dde lla RRiva

Father Rodrigo wrote to Father Ramón on November
13th, 1965:

«A ffortnight aago oon TTuesday, tthe ppastor oof BBarro
brought AAniceta aand CConchita tto mme .. .. ..  WWhile II wwas aalone
with CConchita, sshe cconfirmed tthat tthe VVirgin hhad ttold hher
on tthe ddeath oof JJohn XXXIII tthat tthere rremain oonly 33 PPopes
(counting the present) until tthe end oof tthe ttimes.»

________

In this letter there is another interesting thing:
«She (Conchita) also ttold mme: AAs tthe ppeople wwere ttalking

about ttrips tto sspace, II aasked tthe VVirgin iif tthere wwere
persons lliving oout tthere, aand sshe ttold mme: ""Yes," bbut sshe
didn’t aadd aanything mmore.»
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If it cannot be accepted that Conchita invented
such a definite and compromising prediction, neither
could it be held that the prophecy of St. Malachy
suggested it to her.  First, because she was completely
unaware of it; and secondly, because this prophecy
and her prediction do not agree.

This prophecy concerning the popes, that is so
talked about today, came out in 1595. A Benedictine
monk from Belgium, Arnold de Wion, published at
the time a voluminous work under the title of
Ligum Vitae.  It was a type of general biography of
the great personages in his order.  In this work were
listed a series of 111 divisions or titles in Latin,
which he reported as coming from an Irish saint of
the twelfth century: St. Malachy, Archbishop of
Armagh.  These divisions tended to correspond, one
after the other, to the popes that came after In-
nocent II, who died in 1143.

The authenticity of this enormous prophecy has
been discussed endlessly; authenticity in a double
sense: in whether it can be truly attributed to the
saint, and in whether it really was inspired from
above.  I doubt if the question will ever be resolved.
But there is something that strikes the reader; the
amazing accuracy with which many of the titles
describe the popes to which they correspond.

According to the prophecy of St. Malachy, after
John XXIII there still remain five more popes.
There are five more titles after his, ending with the
name of the last successor of St. Peter.  Conchita, on
the other hand, speaks of only three.  The dis-
crepancy could be only an apparent one if, as some
think, a new schism arises in the church, with the
elevation of anti-popes.  To these could correspond
some of these last titles that seem to be in series,(29)

attributing some to the legitimate popes and others to
the false, or anti-popes.

The title of the last pope is given in these words,
which if they are true, are shocking in their poig-
nant sobriety:

In persecutione extrema Sanctae Romanae Ecclesiae, sedebit
Petrus Romanus, qui pascet oves in multis tribulation bus; quibus
transactis, civitas septicollis diruetur, et Judex tremendous
judicabit populum suum.  Finis.

29.  The four divisions that follow John XXIII are:
Flos florum = Flower of flowers 
De medietate lunae = Half of the moon.
De labore solis = From the work of the sun.
De gloria olivae = From the glory of the olive branch.

“In the final persecution of the Holy Roman
Church, Peter the Roman will reign, who will pas-
ture his sheep among multiple tribulations.  When
these have passed, the city of the seven hills will be
destroyed and the terrible judge will judge his
people.  Finis."

Related to the succession of John XXIII and the
possibility of the anti-popes is an episode which
curiously is not mentioned either in Fr. Valentin’s
notes or in the reports of the best-known witnesses
of Garabandal.

On the suggestion of the pastor from Barro, who
had his part in the episode, I wrote to Margarita
Huerta in Madrid, asking for details.  She answered
on June 18th, 1973:

««YYeess,, II wwaass iinn GGaarraabbaannddaall dduurriinngg tthhee vviissiitt ooff
tthhee ffaallssee ppooppee,, CClleemmeenntt XXVV..  BBuutt II ccaann’’tt rreemmeemmbbeerr
tthhee ddaattee;; ppoossssiibbllyy iitt wwaass dduurriinngg 11996633,, aass yyoouu ssuugg-
ggeesstt,, oorr ppeerrhhaappss iinn 11996644;; II ddoo rreemmeemmbbeerr tthhaatt iitt
wwaass dduurriinngg mmyy ssuummmmeerr vvaaccaattiioonn,, bbeettwweeeenn JJuullyy
aanndd AAuugguusstt..»»

(Concerning the year, there is no room for ques-
tion.  The November, 1972 issue of ‘La Verité,’ the
magazine of Clement XV, contains an interview of
the pseudo-pope with a reporter in which the
psuedo-pope said, “I was in Garabandal on August
2nd, 1963"(30) (Just two months after the death of
Pope John)

««HHee rrooddee iinnttoo tthhee vviillllaaggee iinn aa bbiigg lliimmoouussiinnee,,
aaccccoommppaanniieedd bbyy ttwwoo yyoouunngg llaayymmeenn ooff aabboouutt 2211
yyeeaarrss ooff aaggee,, aanndd aannootthheerr oonnee oovveerr 3300 yyeeaarrss oolldd
wwhhoo sseeeemmeedd ttoo bbee mmaarrrriieedd..»»  According to Fr. de
la Riva, those that accompanied him were
wearing smart uniforms. ««HHee wwoorree aann iimmppeeccccaa-
bbllee wwhhiittee ccaassssoocckk,, aanndd aa ssiimmiillaarr wwhhiittee sskkuullllccaapp
oonn hhiiss hheeaadd,, aa rriinngg lliikkee bbiisshhooppss wweeaarr,, aanndd oonn hhiiss
cchheesstt tthheerree wwaass aa llaarrggee ccrroossss hhaannggiinngg ffrroomm aa lloonngg

30.  Surely this August 2 is a printer’s error, and should be
August 22nd.  A letter from Conchita to Father Laffineur
makes me think this way:
«San SSebastián dde GGarabandal August 223, 11963

Just aa ffew wwords tto ttell yyou tthat yyesterday aa ccar ccame tto tthe
village wwith aa mman aaccompanied bby ttwo oothers.  HHe wwas ddressed
in wwhite aand ccarried aa llarge ccross oon hhis cchest, aalso aa sskullcap
and aa rring.  HHe wwas FFrench.

He ccame ssaying tthat hhe wwas tthe PPope cchosen bby GGod; tthat
Paul VVI wwas eelected oonly bby tthe ccardinals.  HHe aalso ssaid tthat
from tthe ttime hhe wwas 335 yyears oold, hhe ssaw tthe VVirgin aand aalso
God, WWho wwas tthe oone wwho ttold hhim tto ccome hhere .. .. ..»

139



cchhaaiinn..  OOnn sseeeeiinngg hhiimm,, tthhee ppeeooppllee ggaatthheerreedd
aarroouunndd hhiimm iimmmmeeddiiaatteellyy,, tthhiinnkkiinngg nnaattuurraallllyy
tthhaatt hhee wwaass aann iimmppoorrttaanntt cchhaarraacctteerr..  HHee ggaavvee
hhiiss rriinngg ttoo kkiissss aanndd aallll llooookkeedd aatt hhiimm wwiitthh tthhee
ggrreeaatteesstt rreessppeecctt..»»

(Perhaps this reception was the basis for what
he believed of himself . . .  And what he told a
reporter from Amsterdam, “I was received as the
true pope.  I was taken by the people of the village
to the places of the apparitions.  It was a tri-
umphal hosanna.  As I didn’t know the visionaries
or their messages, I felt really surprised by such
enthusiasm." The poor man had to believe that God
had spoken there in his favor . . .  But his euphoria
was not destined to last long.)

««AAss nneeiitthheerr hhee nnoorr hhiiss ccoommppaanniioonnss ssppookkee aannyy-
tthhiinngg bbuutt FFrreenncchh,, mmyy ffrriieenndd aanndd II bbeeggaann ttoo aacctt aass
iinntteerrmmeeddiiaarriieess..  HHee ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt hhee hhaadd ccoommee ttoo
vviissiitt GGaarraabbaannddaall bbyy ccoommmmaanndd ooff tthhee ddeeppaarrtteedd
JJoohhnn XXXXIIIIII,, wwhhoo hhaadd ccoonnffiiddeedd ttoo hhiimm tthhee mmiissssiioonn
ooff iinnvveessttiiggaattiinngg tthhee eevveennttss ooccccuurrrriinngg tthheerree .. .. ..  AAtt
tthhee ttiimmee,, II ssuucccceeeeddeedd iinn ggeettttiinngg aawwaayy ffrroomm hhiimm ffoorr
aa ffeeww mmoommeennttss aanndd II wweenntt ttoo wwhheerree FFrr.. JJoosséé
RRaammóónn GGaarrccííaa ddee llaa RRiivvaa hhaadd sseeppaarraatteedd hhiimmsseellff
ffrroomm tthhee ccrroowwdd’’ss ccoommmmoottiioonn..  II rreellaayyeedd hhiiss ddeeccllaa-
rraattiioonnss ttoo tthhee pprriieesstt aanndd hhee ttoolldd mmee,, GGoo aanndd aasskk
hhiimm ttoo sshhooww yyoouu tthhee ddooccuummeenntt tthhaatt hhee bbrriinnggss
ffrroomm RRoommee..

WWhheenn II aasskkeedd hhiimm ffoorr iitt,, hhee aannsswweerreedd mmee,, NNoo..
II ddoonn’’tt ccaarrrryy aannyy ddooccuummeenntt;; JJoohhnn XXXXIIIIII ggaavvee mmee
tthhee oorrddeerr vveerrbbaallllyy..

II wweenntt ttoo tteellll tthhiiss ttoo FFrr.. JJoosséé RRaammóónn aanndd hhee
ssaaiidd ttoo mmee,, II ddoonn’’tt lliikkee tthhee ssoouunndd ooff tthhiiss..  OOnnllyy
GGoodd ccaann kknnooww wwhhoo tthhiiss cchhaarraacctteerr iiss!!  FFuurrtthheerr-
mmoorree,, II ddoonn’’tt wwaanntt ttoo kknnooww aannyytthhiinngg aabboouutt tthhiiss
mmaatttteerr;; II’’mm nnoott llooookkiinngg ffoorr ttrroouubbllee.. AAnndd hhee
wwaallkkeedd aawwaayy..»»

__________

Amused, people came in increasing numbers to
see the curious personage, and all thought that they
were in front of an important figure of the Church.
He then manifested his intention of celebrating
Mass for everyone there up high at the Pines, since
he carried a portable altar and had permission to
celebrate Mass in all places.  But Margarita Huer-
ta dissuaded him, making him see that would not
cause a good impression on the people, since every-
one knew of the Bishop of Santander’s prohibi-
tions . . .  The man was somewhat dismayed, and

apologized for personally being unaware of such
prohibitions, although for him, they didn’t oblige in
any way.

Margarita could not know that, at the same time
in separate conversation, two of his accomplices were
telling her friend Fracasado that he was the au-
thentic Pope, the Pope "Flos florum" predicted by the
prophet St. Malachy to follow John XXIII.  And that
it was he, Clement XV, and not the false Pope Paul
VI, who should be obeyed.

Frustrated with regard to saying mass, Clement
XV expressed to Margarita another desire: to talk
with the girls of the apparitions.  Immediately some-
one went to find them, but the girls, for some reason
(perhaps they had been alerted about this suspicious
personality), did not want to come.

Clement XV was irritated, and so at the time
Margarita tried to soothe over the situation:

««UUnnddeerrssttaanndd tthhaatt tthhee BBiisshhoopp ooff SSaannttaannddeerr
hhaass pprroohhiibbiitteedd pprriieessttss aanndd rreelliiggiioouuss ffrroomm ccoommiinngg
hheerree wwiitthhoouutt wwrriitttteenn ppeerrmmiissssiioonn..  AAnndd aass yyoouu
ddoonn’’tt ccaarrrryy aannyy cceerrttiiffiiccaattee,, eeiitthheerr yyoouurr oowwnn oorr
ffrroomm RRoommee,, tthhee ppeeooppllee hhaavvee ssttaarrtteedd ttoo llooookk aatt
yyoouu wwiitthh ssuussppiicciioonn..

TThhee hhee aasskkeedd mmee ttoo ffiinndd aa hhoouussee ffoorr hhiimm wwhheerree
hhee ccoouulldd eeaatt aanndd sslleeeepp..  II ttooookk tthheemm ttoo TTiivvaa’’ss
hhoouussee aanndd tthheeyy iinnvviitteedd mmee ttoo eeaatt wwiitthh tthheemm;; II
aacccceepptteedd tthhee iinnvviittaattiioonn..  BBeeffoorree eennddiinngg,, CClleemmeenntt
XXVV ssttiillll iinnssiisstteedd oonn hhiiss ddeessiirree ooff ttaallkkiinngg wwiitthh tthhee
ggiirrllss;; hhee ssaaiidd ttoo tthhee oollddeesstt ooff tthhoossee aaccccoommppaannyyiinngg
hhiimm,, WWhhyy ddoonn’’tt yyoouu ggoo wwiitthh tthhiiss wwoommaann ttoo CCoonn-
cchhiittaa’’ss hhoouussee aanndd tteellll hheerr ttoo ccoommee hheerree?? TThhee mmaann
aannsswweerreedd wwiitthhoouutt eevveenn llooookkiinngg aatt hhiimm,, II??  WWhhyy
sshhoouulldd II ggoo??  IInn nnoo wwaayy wwiillll II ggoo.. CClleemmeenntt XXVV
rreemmaaiinneedd wwiitthhoouutt ssaayyiinngg aa wwoorrdd..»»

__________

Finally they went to sleep.  And on the next day,
very early in the morning, they got away from the
village in their limousine.

This sudden getaway had its reason.  On the pre-
vious afternoon, as soon as rumors about this char-
acter wanting to pass himself off as the real Pope had
come to his ears, Fr. de la Riva went to Ceferino, the
Mayor of the village, to tell him this person’s stay
would bring many troubles and problems to
everyone.  Then Ceferino went up to Clement XV
to make him know, that if he did not imme-
diately get out of the village, he would be turned
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over to the commandant of the civil Guard at
Puente Nansa.

The warning had its effect. Clement XV dis-
pensed with his pontifical air.  Asking Ceferino not to
do anything, he said they would leave right away, and
would he permit them only to rest there that night.

*  *  *

This is the actual history of the episode that
Clement XV experienced at Garabandal, and that
nine years later in Amsterdam he encapsuled before
a reporter in the words we have just seen, I was
received like the true pope.  I was taken by the peo-
ple of the village to the places of the apparitions.  It
was a triumphal hosanna . . .  I felt really surprised
by such enthusiasm.

How is such self-suggestion possible?  Or perhaps
it is not self-suggestion . . .

In another place in this book, Conchita’s state-
ment to the Mother at the college of Burgos on
November 12th, 1966 was mentioned,

««YYoouu kknnooww FFaatthheerr CCoolllliinn??  NNooww hhee iiss ppaassssiinngg
ffoorr aa ppooppee..  HHee wwaass iinn mmyy vviillllaaggee..  HHee wwaanntteedd ttoo
ttaallkk wwiitthh mmee,, bbuutt mmyy mmootthheerr ddiiddnn’’tt lleett hhiimm..
FFiinnaallllyy tthheeyy tthhrreeww hhiimm oouutt ooff tthhee vviillllaaggee .. .. ..  WWeellll,,
wwhheenn II wwaass iinn RRoommee,, (January, 1966) tthheeyy sshhoowweedd
mmee aa ppiiccttuurree iinn aa mmaaggaazziinnee oonn wwhhiicchh II aappppeeaarreedd
nneexxtt ttoo hhiimm,, aanndd iitt wwaass wwrriitttteenn tthheerree tthhaatt hhee hhaadd
bbeeeenn wwiitthh mmee,, aanndd mmaannyy ootthheerr lliieess..»»

Obviously, Clement XV wanted to exploit the
events of Garabandal to his advantage, just as he has
always tried to make people believe that the famous
Secret of Fatima was in his favor.(31)

*  *  *

We have seen how Conchita repeated that she had
heard that, after the last pope, there would not come
the end of the world, but rather the end of the times.
What is the difference?

This is a difficult question, which would require
many pages for clarification.  We will only make some
brief considerations here, so that the matter will not
be completely obscure.

If by end of the world is understood the anni-
hilation of the cosmic world that we are acquain-
ted with, we could well say that the end of the
world will never come, since the world will not be

destroyed, but substantially changed.  To speak therefore
of the end of the world is to refer to that final point in
history when the existence of man as he is at present will be
changed into another form, very different and much better.

And II ssaw aa nnew hheaven aand aa nnew eearth.  FFor tthe ffirst hheaven
and tthe ffirst eearth wwere ggone .. .. ..  AAnd ddeath sshall bbe nno mmore, nnor
mourning, nnor ccrying, nnor ssorrow sshall bbe aany mmore, ffor tthe
former tthings aare ppassed aaway.  AAnd HHe tthat ssat oon tthe tthrone
said:  BBehold II mmake aall tthings nnew.                              (Ap. 21: 1-5)

Such a substantial change would certainly comprise a
tremendous display of upheaval and destruction; since for
man, the worker of iniquity (Matt.13: 41), the change from the
temporary state to the permanent will not be smooth.

But tthe ppresent hheavens aand eearth, bby tthe ssame wword aare kkept
in sstore, rreserved ffor ffire oon tthe dday oof tthe jjudgment aand pperdition
of uungodly mmen .. .. ..  BBut tthe dday oof tthe LLord sshall ccome aas aa tthief,
in wwhich tthe hheavens sshall ppass aaway wwith ggreat vviolence, aand tthe
elements sshall bbe mmelted wwith hheat, aand tthe eearth aand tthe wworks
that aare iin iit sshall bbe bburned uup.                             (11 Peter 3: 7-10)

To all this we refer when we speak of the end of
the world.  If the expression end of the times does not
mean the same, then it would have to refer to some-
thing prior to it and of exceptional importance.
What would this be?  That is the question.

31.  But who is this individual?
His name is Michael Collin and he is a fallen-away, former Catholic priest from France.
In the interview just mentioned, he himself resuméd the most important times of his

life: I was baptized in Béchy where I was born.  I was ordained a priest by Cardinal
Liénart in Lillie.  On April 28th, 1935, I was consecrated Bishop by Our Lord at Vaux-le-
Metz; and finally, Pope, by God Himself in Sorrento, on October 7, 1950.

If such direct interventions from heaven to promote him do not seem peculiar,
certainly his pathway to being elected is, as he himself describes it:

From my childhood, the Lord let me know that I had to help the world and save it.
And when I was 16 years old, He clearly confided to me the mission of "saving the

world."  When I made my First Communion, Jesus told me privately, "Miguel, you will be
a priest one day; afterwards, bishop; finally, Pope."

From those years, the Lord appeared to me and also the Virgin.  When I was still
small, I thought that everyone saw them as I.  When I didn’t understand His words very
well.  He said to me, "Everything will become clear; we must hope."

And for a long time I doubted like this.  But now that I have seen the Most Holy Virgin,
clothed in black, shedding tears and asking me to accomplish my mission, I have put all
my doubts aside.  I will fight until the day on which God reigns on earth as in heaven . . .

In 1950, God himself consecrated me Pope in Sorrento.  It was on October 7th, the feast
of the Most Holy Rosary.  From four until eight in the morning, I was in communication
with Him . . .  And I descended from St. Peter in a direct spiritual line, through Pius XII . . .

To save the world from an immense deluge, moral and material, and to make
straight the Church, which is walking toward the abyss; here is the reason and purpose
for my life.  And so we have an answer to the secret of Fatima, which announced a
"miraculous Pope" to bring this mission to an end.

_________
What got in the way to prevent him from doing this?  Miguel-Clemente XV tells us point blank:

Paul VI, friend of Satan . . .  On the death of John XXIII, he himself declared, "I don’t want to be Pope;
there is a French man who is already designated."  He knew the secret of Fatima, since Pius XII had
spoken to him about it.  But later he preferred to be a usurper, and with his lamentable past . . .

________
And so from Pope Clement’s words, it is easy to understand our misfortune.  And it

will be much worse:
The nations will be destroyed by an atomic war without precedent, if Clement XV

does not officially take over the direction of the Church.
Clement XV has spoken!
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TIME certainly will not end until the finish of
the present form of existence; an existence that is
transitory, subject to succession and change; be-
cause of this, the end of time will coincide with the
end of the world.

But “the times" may well not be the same thing
as “time" . . .

Jesus, in His eschatological discourse,(32) accor-
ding to the version of St. Luke (21: 24) said about the
coming ruin of the Jewish city: And tthey sshall ffall bby tthe
edge oof tthe ssword; aand sshall bbe lled aaway ccaptive iinto aall tthe
nations; aand JJerusalem sshall bbe ttrodden ddown bby tthe ggentiles;(33)

until tthe ttimes oof tthe nnations bbe ffulfilled.

Thus the first chosen people, Israel, will remain
dispersed and their capital, the Holy City, abandoned
by God as in the grand captivity of Babylon.  The
gentiles who embrace the faith will then replace the
unfaithful Jewish nation as the nation of God.  Such a
situation will last for a long time: the times of the
nations.  These times will be fulfilled when the time
comes for Israel once again through a massive con-
version to Christianity.  The effects of such a con-
version would have enormous significance, according
to St. Paul:

Have tthe JJews ffallen fforever, oor hhave tthey jjust sstumbled?
Obviously tthey hhave nnot ffallen fforever.  BBut bby ttheir ffall, ssalvation
has ccome tto tthe ggentiles .. .. ..  FFor iif ttheir rrejection iis tthe
reconciliation oof tthe wworld, wwhat wwill ttheir rreception bbe, bbut
resurrection ffrom tthe ddead! (Romans 11: 11-15)

History then will take a spectacular turn, unfore-
seeable and bewildering.  Truly there will be new
times.  Is this being heralded by Garabandal for the
near future?  Can the end of the times, which is
predicted to follow John XXIII’s third successor, be
the consummation of the times of the nations,

32.  It is called this since it speaks of the last events, re-
ferring to the final consummation of man’s history.  The theo-
logical study that deals with the last things of the world has
received the name of Eschatology (from the Greek word
‘eschatos’ meaning last).

33.  For the Jews, the gentiles comprise all other peoples
and nations that are not descendents of Abraham, the chosen
one of God.

The Israelites, sons and heirs of the promise, constitute a
nation completely separate; the other nations are the common
masses.  Because of this, the word gentile, rather than having a
religious signification, indicates the condition of being part of
the masses.

that will pave the way for Israel’s great new epoch in
the service of God and mankind?

I would be inclined to say yes,(34) if it were not for
a serious difficulty: the prediction that the third
successor of John XXIII would be the last pope.  It is
hard to understand how the Church could exist with-
out a head or a ruler.  If there were no head, would
not Our Lord have to appear to us, to achieve by His
second coming the work which began with His first?
That would be the Parousia.(35)

Or would He proceed to the great consummation
supposed by the Last Universal Judgment, in which
case, the end of the times would be practically the
same thing as the end of the world.

Or would He only change the present state of
things in such a way as to prepare the final path for
the great consummation.  Perhaps St. Paul refers to
this when he says:

For HHe mmust rreign uuntil HHe hhas pput aall HHis eenemies uunder HHis
feet.  AAnd wwhen aall tthings sshall bbe ssubdued uunder HHim, tthen tthe
Son HHimself mmust bbe ssubject aalso tto HHim tthat pput aall tthings uunder
Him, tthat GGod mmay bbe aall iin aall. (1 Cor. 15: 25-28)

There is also another possibility: in speaking of

34.  Perhaps the fact of presenting herself at Garabandal as
Our Lady of Mount Carmel, apart from its theological and
mystical meaning (see the Ascent of Mount Carmel by St. John
of the Cross), has also a mysterious reference to the nearness of
the eschatological times.

Mount Carmel has been closely associated with the devotion
to the Virgin from the remotest times; but it is also closely
associated with the history of Israel (in the decisive hours of the
Alliance) and with the activities of the great prophet of the old
testament, Elias.

By appearing under her ancient title of Our Lady of Mount
Carmel in these modern times of the world, does the Virgin
want to indicate that she will take decisive action so that the
mass conversion of the Jews — that has been waiting for almost
two millennia now — will be accomplished, fulfilling that way
the times of the nations?

Does she want to point out the imminence of the final times
when, according to the Apocalypse (ll:3-6) the man of Mount
Carmel, Elias, will make his last acts as a preacher and witness
of the Lord?

These are times in which I think I find a certain mimetic
likeness between the sound of the word Garabandal and the
sound of the Hebrew or Arab word for Carmel.  It is almost as
if there were two Carmels: one from the east, and one from the
west, both chosen as locations for salvation by the presence of
the Virgin.

35.  Parousia is a biblical and theological term to designate
the solemn manifestation of Christ at the end of time.
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the three last popes, this could refer to their reign-
ing in Rome like their predecessors.  Only in this
would they be the last, since perhaps there could
later be some extra-Roman pontiffs.  Can this possi-
bility be excluded?

The more I think about it, the more I favor the
last hypothesis.  

The Catholic Church originated in Jerusalem
where St. Peter had his seat.  Following the falling
away of Israel after the Jews put the Messiah to death
and violently rejected his works, Saint Peter went to
find a place among the nations, the gentile people,
and his seat was established in Rome which was then
the undeniable head of the gentile world.

The succession of Saint Peter was then perpet-
uated in the Bishop of Rome who was the Pope of the
Church and the Head of the Episcopal College.  From
that time the same person was both Bishop of Rome
and the Head of the Church.

But if Rome would perish or disappear, there
would be no more bishops belonging to it.  And if
Jerusalem would become a converted Israel, a Chris-
tian one, a Holy City as had so often been predicted
by the biblical prophecies, it would become the city
of the great King.  Here the word of the Lord would
save all peoples and the successor of Saint Peter, the
Vicar of Christ, would situate himself.  The center of
the Church would thus return to its origin.

Rome is called Babylon in passages of the New
Testament (I Peter 5: 13) and there are many things in
the 17th and 19th chapters of the Apocalypse about
its destiny . . .

Concise and explicit is the final paragraph of
the famous prophecy of Saint Malachy on the
popes: In the last persecution of the Holy Roman
Church the throne will be held by Peter the Ro-
man, who will tend his sheep in the midst of Trib-
ulations.  When these have passed, the City of the
Seven Hills will be destroyed, and the terrible
judge will judge his people.

Mysteries!  Mysteries!  Mysteries!

But we should not ignore that Garabandal, from
the days of 1963, has proclaimed that we are entering
into decisive times, perhaps the last that will be
marked by the arms of the great clock of history.  

With tthe MMiracle 
in SSight

A magnificent opportunity, prior to the coming
epoch of the final times, will be the Miracle that is
being foretold more and more.

Fr. Retenaga, in composing his second report in
April, 1963, resumés what he has heard on the topic
like this:

««CCoonncchhiittaa aaffffiirrmmss::  

z TThhaatt sshhee kknneeww aabboouutt tthhee mmiirraaccllee ssiinnccee OOcc-
ttoobbeerr,, 11996611..

z TThhaatt tthhee VViirrggiinn ffiirrsstt ttoolldd iitt ttoo hheerr aalloonnee;; bbuutt
tthhaatt sshhee ttoolldd iitt ttoo tthhee ootthheerr tthhrreeee llaatteerr..

z TThhaatt iitt wwiillll bbee oonn TThhuurrssddaayy,, aatt 88::3300 iinn tthhee
eevveenniinngg,, aanndd wwiillll llaasstt aabboouutt aa qquuaarrtteerr ooff aann hhoouurr..

z TThhaatt oonn tthhaatt ddaayy tthheerree wwoouulldd bbee aann eecccclleessii-
aassttiiccaall eevveenntt,, aanndd tthhee mmiirraaccllee wwoouulldd ccoommee aafftteerr
tthhaatt eevveenntt,, oonn tthhee ssaammee ddaayy..
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z TThhaatt sshhee wwoouulldd aannnnoouunnccee tthhee mmiirraaccllee ttoo tthhee
wwoorrlldd eeiigghhtt ddaayyss iinn aaddvvaannccee..

zz TThhaatt,, bbeessiiddeess tthhoossee tthhaatt wweerree iinn tthhee vviill-
llaaggee,, tthhee PPooppee aanndd PPaaddrree PPiioo(36) wwoouulldd sseeee tthhee
mmiirraaccllee..  TThhee VViirrggiinn ddiidd nnoott ssppeecciiffiiccaallllyy ssaayy
wwhhiicchh PPooppee..

zz TThhaatt tthhee ssiicckk wwhhoo wweerree tthheerree wwoouulldd bbee
ccuurreedd,, iinncclluuddiinngg ssiinnnneerrss,, ssiinnccee aaccccoorrddiinngg ttoo tthhee
VViirrggiinn,, tthheeyy wweerree hheerr cchhiillddrreenn ttoooo..»»

*  *  *

There is a tape recorded by Plácido Ruiloba in
Garabandal on January 16th, 1963.  He was ques-
tioning Conchita about a letter that the girl had
written to the Bishop:

««—— DDiidd yyoouu wwrriittee ddoowwnn tthhee ddaattee ooff tthhee mmiirraaccllee??

—— NNoo,, ssiinnccee aatt tthhee ttiimmee II ddiiddnn''tt kknnooww iitt..

36.  After Conchita’s prediction, Padre Pio’s death in Sep-
tember, 1968 caused great dismay among the Garabandalistas,
since they all counted on the famous Capuchin from Pie-
trelcina being alive and present on the day of the Miracle.
Many explanations have been given attempting to correlate
Conchita’s prediction with the fact of his death.

Now we have some reliable information on this matter.
Conchita was dismayed also by the notice of the death of

Padre Pio, who was expected to «see tthe mmiracle».  But several
weeks after his death, as dusk settled at Garabandal on Oc-
tober 16, 1968, a telegram from Lourdes arrived, carrying the
name of a woman in Rome whom Conchita knew.  The telegram
urged her to depart immediately by car to receive something
on behalf of Padre Pio . . .

Fr. Combe, a French parish priest from Chazay d’Azergues
in the diocese of Lyon and a great promoter of the cause of
Garabandal, was in Garabandal that day.  He and his in-
separable collaborator B.L. Ellos took Conchita and Aniceta in
their car and set out that night for Lourdes.  There on the
morning of October 17, Conchita received «on bbehalf oof PPadre
Pio» a short written message and a large section of the veil that
had covered Padre Pio’s face after his death.  Carrying these
presents was the Italian Capuchin Fr. B. (surely Fr. P. Ber-
nardino Cennamo).  Fr. B. had been very close to Padre Pio
and his secretary Fr. Pellegrino who had signed this message
that Padre Pio spoke to him a month before his death.  In the
message appeared the date «August 222, 11968»

Conchita took advantage of this meeting to ask, «Why ddid
the VVirgin ttell mme tthat PPadre PPio wwould ssee tthe MMiracle?»

Father B: «Padre PPio ssaw iit bbefore hhis ddeath.  HHe hhimself
told uus.»

These and other details about the connection between Con-
chita and Padre Pio can be seen in the French leaflet Conchita
Parle du Padre Pio that Fr. Combe published.

—— SSiinnccee wwhheenn hhaavvee yyoouu kknnoowwnn iitt??  SSiinnccee tthhee
ppaasstt wweeeekk??

—— NNoo,, ssiinnccee tthhiiss wweeeekk..  II ttoolldd tthhee BBiisshhoopp aabboouutt
wwhhaatt iitt wwaass ggooiinngg ttoo ccoonnssiisstt,, aanndd ootthheerr tthhiinnggss .. .. ..
BBuutt nnoott tthhee ddaattee..»»(37)

__________
I admit that I do not know the exact meaning of

Conchita's remark about not knowing the date.  The
reader can make his own judgment from another
passage of the recorded conversation:

««AAnndd wwhhaatt ddooeess yyoouurr bbrrootthheerr SSeerraaffíínn ssaayy
aabboouutt tthhiiss??

Serafín

—— HHee ssaayyss tthhaatt iiff tthhee MMiirraaccllee iiss nnoott ssuurree,, tthhaatt
II sshhoouulldd cclleeaarrllyy ssaayy tthhee ttrruutthh;; tthhaatt hhee wwiillll ttaakkee mmee
aawwaayy ffrroomm hheerree aanndd bbrriinngg mmee wwhheerreevveerr II wwaanntt..
BBuutt hhooww ccoouulldd SSeerraaffíínn tthhiinnkk lliikkee tthhiiss ssiinnccee II ttoolldd
hhiimm tthhee ddaattee yyeesstteerrddaayy??

—— WWeellll —— rreessppoonnddeedd SSeerraaffíínn wwhhoo wwaass pprreesseenntt
tthheerree —— yyoouu ddiiddnn''tt tteellll mmee aannyytthhiinngg lliikkee tthhee ddaattee..
YYoouu ttoolldd mmee aa tthhiinngg,, aa hhaappppeenniinngg,, wwhhiicchh iiff iitt oocc-
ccuurrss wwiillll lleett mmee kknnooww tthhee MMiirraaccllee iiss ccoommiinngg..»»

__________

Serafín himself, after reading about this in the
first edition of this book, gave me some clarifications
when we were in his little hotel in May of 1976.

During the winter of 1963, (the time of the crisis
discussed in Part Two, and prior to the denials of

37.  I found this information in one of Maximina’s letters
to the Piffaré family, dated December 15:

«Look, AAsunción, ddon’t ttell tthis tto aanyone.  BBut ttoday
Conchita ccame tto mmy hhouse aand ttold mme, Look, AAunt, ddon’t ttell
this tto mmy mmother, bbut ttoday tthe AAngel ttold mme tthe ddate oof tthe
Miracle.  NNo oone eexcept sshe aand hher ooldest bbrother kknow tthis.»
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the other girls), he felt that as the eldest brother and
the man of the house, he should take a stand con-
cerning Conchita.

So one night while the family was in the kitchen of
the house, he said to Conchita, You will have to tell
us once and for all what this is all about; we can't go
on like this.  And don't be afraid of what will happen
. . .  I'm ready to take you away from the village and
bring you anywhere you want.  If you want to go to
school, we can arrange that too . . .  But we have to
know the truth.  All these things about the appar-
itions: Are they true, or are they something that you
made up?

Conchita replied that it was true, that she had
seen the Virgin, that it wasn't something that the
girls made up, and that there was no reason to leave
the village . . .

The matter remained that way during the night.

But the next day, while Serafín was in the kitchen
and his sister upstairs, he heard her call him, Sera-
fín!  Come up a minute.

The man told me he felt as if his heart missed a
beat as he thought, There it is!  She has finally made
up her mind.  She must have thought about this all
night long and is going to tell me that it has all been
a fraud.

— What do you want? He asked her on ar-
riving upstairs.

— So that you can see that all this is true, the
Virgin has told me to tell you this . . .

And she talked to him about the Miracle, and ex-
plained in what it was going to consist.  Later Con-
chita wrote it down briefly on the back of a holy
card of the Child Jesus, which Serafín keeps con-
cealed and which none of the family has seen.  And
she told him that it would occur when a definite
event in the Church took place, and she also ex-
plained it to him.  Only in this way does Serafín
know the date of the miracle.

Later Serafín and I discussed the following ex-
cerpt from a leaflet written by Dr. Puncernau:

««DDuurriinngg oonnee ooff mmyy ttrriippss ttoo tthhee ppaassttuurreess,, II wwaass
aalloonnee wwiitthh SSeerraaffíínn aanndd wwee wweerree eeaattiinngg iinn tthhee
bbaarrnn..  AAfftteerr eeaattiinngg,, II ttrriieedd ttoo ddrraaww hhiimm oouutt ssiinnccee

iitt wwaass ssaaiidd tthhaatt hhee kknneeww ffrroomm CCoonncchhiittaa wwhheenn tthhee
WWaarrnniinngg wwoouulldd bbee..

II ddrreeww tthhee ccoonncclluussiioonn tthhaatt iiff hhee kknneeww,, hhee ddiiddnn''tt
wwaanntt ttoo ssaayy..  TThhee oonnllyy tthhiinngg tthhaatt II ggoott ddeeffiinniitteellyy
ffrroomm hhiimm wwaass tthhaatt iitt wwoouulldd bbee pprreecceeddeedd bbyy aa ssppee-
cciiaall hhaappppeenniinngg iinn tthhee CChhuurrcchh..  AAfftteerr mmaannyy qquueess-
ttiioonnss aanndd aannsswweerrss,, iitt sseeeemmeedd cclleeaarr ttoo mmee ffrroomm hhiiss
vvaagguuee rreemmaarrkkss tthhaatt iitt wwoouulldd bbee ssoommeetthhiinngg lliikkee aa
sscchhiissmm..  TThhaatt iiss tthhee wwaayy II uunnddeerrssttoooodd iitt..»»

— And what do you say about Dr. Puncernau's
opinion? I asked Serafín.

— He is free to think what he wants.  But I don't
think I gave him reasons for such an opinion.

— But will this happening actually be a schism
in the Church?

— I have nothing to say.

During that May of 1976, I spoke also with

Jacinta's mother, María.  She told me that she had
heard repeatedly from her daughter that affairs were
going to go very bad for the Church, that the Eu-
charist would constantly be given less importance,
that many priests would become worse and worse,
and that wickedness would spread everywhere.

It can be noticed that Dr. Puncernau does not
speak of the Miracle, but of the Warning.  Is this a
mistake?  Perhaps not.
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On a day in September of 1963, some French
people were invited to eat dinner with Conchita in a
house near the girl's home.  She was devouring pas-
tries with the healthy appetite of girls of her age.
Someone jokingly asked her about the sacrifices and
penance mentioned in the message.  Conchita ac-
cepted the joke in good humor and laughed.  But
suddenly she became quiet and seemed to concen-
trate; her face lit up; and with her hands joined on
her chest, she began to speak:

««TThhee MMiirraaccllee wwiillll bbee oonn tthhee ffeeaassttddaayy ooff aa
yyoouunngg mmaarrttyyrr ooff tthhee EEuucchhaarriisstt,, aa bbooyy wwhhoo ccaarrrriieedd
CCoommmmuunniioonn ttoo ppeerrsseeccuutteedd CChhrriissttiiaannss..  HHiiss ccoomm-
ppaanniioonnss,, oonn sseeeeiinngg hhiimm ppaassss bbyy,, wwaanntteedd ttoo ffoorrccee
hhiimm ttoo ssttaayy aanndd ttaakkee ppaarrtt iinn tthheeiirr ggaammeess..  IInnffuurrii-
aatteedd bbyy hhiiss rreessiissttaannccee,, tthheeyy eennddeedd uupp hhuurrlliinngg
ssttoonneess aatt hhiimm uunnttiill hhee wwaass lleefftt aallmmoosstt ddeeaadd..  LLaatteerr
aa CChhrriissttiiaann ssoollddiieerr ccaammee,, wwhhoo rreeccooggnniizzeedd hhiimm aanndd
ccaarrrriieedd hhiimm iinn hhiiss aarrmmss..

OOnnee ooff tthhoossee pprreesseenntt eexxccllaaiimmeedd:: OOhh,, tthhaatt''ss
SStt.. TTaarrcciissiiuuss!!»»

Conchita, without saying a word, as if she hadn't
heard, turned back to her pastries.

After dinner ended and Conchita had left, those
at the table exchanged their impressions.  The oldest
in the group concluded: It seems that Conchita saw
this scene in an ecstasy, but without understanding
what martyr it was.  I don't think she even knows
his name. (L'Etoile dans la Montagne)

Many think that this description of the young
martyr adequately points out the day on which the
Miracle will occur; and that it is only a matter of
glancing at the calendar.  However, since Conchita
did not tell us the date clearly, she obviously seeks to
keep it a secret.  By industriously sifting through
material and searching through files, we will not be
able to discover it.  The mystery will never be re-
vealed by mere human ingenuity.  The important
thing is to know how to wait and be prepared.

One MMore AApparition
The year 1963 closed at Garabandal with a new

visit from the Mother of Heaven.  Once again she
allowed herself to be seen, but only by Conchita.

It occurred on December 8th, a grand day in
Spain, where the feast of the Immaculate Conception
is celebrated so solemnly.  And it was a big day for
Conchita, since it was her nameday.

Long before the first rays of dawn had broken
over the icy mountains, a mysterious restlessness —
or perhaps a holy inspiration — awoke the young
girl.  She rose and called her mother.  Soon the two of
them went out on the street leading to the church.
Silence and darkness had settled over the village;
nothing was moving, nothing could be heard.  It was
5:30 in the morning.

Before the closed doors of the church, Conchita
fell on her knees in ecstasy.  The temperature was
freezing, not conducive to arousing fervor; but the
visionary was transported from her locale.  Aniceta
alone was there as a witness.  She heard her daughter
conversing with someone, but it was not possible to
understand the dialogue at the time.

Later she learned some of what had happened,
when Conchita decided to speak:

««TThhee VViirrggiinn bbeeggaann bbyy ccoonnggrraattuullaattiinngg mmee oonn mmyy
ffeeaassttddaayy..  AAnndd aafftteerr ccoonnggrraattuullaattiinngg mmee,, sshhee ssaaiidd::

—— YYoouu wwiillll nnoott bbee hhaappppyy oonn eeaarrtthh,, bbuutt yyoouu
wwiillll bbee iinn hheeaavveenn..

AAfftteerrwwaarrdd,, sshhee ttoolldd mmee ssoommee tthhiinnggss .. .. ..  SShhee
ssppookkee ttoo mmee aabboouutt ffuuttuurree hhaappppeenniinnggss .. .. ..

—— CCaann tthheeyy bbee kknnoowwnn??

—— NNoo,, sshhee ttoolldd mmee nnoott ttoo rreevveeaall tthheemm..»»(38)

__________

It appears that the Virgin had been making these
mysterious communications to Conchita for some
time, according to Maximina's letter from the pre-
vious November 10th, in which she writes to Eloísa
de la Roza:

««CCoonncchhiittaa ttoolldd mmee aabboouutt tthhee llaasstt llooccuuttiioonn
wwhhiicchh sshhee hhaadd 1100 oorr 1155 ddaayyss aaggoo —— II ddoonn''tt rreemmeemm-
bbeerr eexxaaccttllyy wwhhaatt ddaayy iitt wwaass..  SShhee ttoolldd mmee tthheerree wwaass
aa llooccuuttiioonn aabboouutt wwhhiicchh sshhee ccoouullddnn''tt ssaayy aannyytthhiinngg
ttoo aannyyoonnee,, nnoott eevveenn iinn ccoonnffeessssiioonn..  II aasskkeedd hheerr iiff iitt
wwaass ssoommeetthhiinngg ggoooodd,, aanndd sshhee ttoolldd mmee tthhaatt tthhee
VViirrggiinn nneevveerr ssaayyss aannyytthhiinngg bbaadd..»»

*  *  *

And so amid prophecy, hidden secrets, and expec-
tation, 1963, Garabandal's third year slipped away.

38.  L’Etoile dans la Montagne.
146



upper lleft: CConchita aat aage tthree
lower lleft: oon dday oof FFirst CCommunion
upper rright: aat ttime aapparitions bbegan

It had begun with a tremendous upheaval, dis-
couraging many and purifying others.

Then came months of calm and suspense.

Its days closed with words encased in mystery.

But there were some words that are very clear for
every one:

You wwill nnot bbe hhappy oon eearth,
but yyou wwill bbe iin hheaven.
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